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Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
incorrectly named Mathew Ng MD 
and Pankaj Bhatnagar MD incorrectly named 
Pankaj Bhatanagar MD 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ, in his capacity 
as Receiver for, and acting on behalf of, 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

WILLIAM SMITH MD, PANKAJ 
BHATANAGAR MD, MARJORIE BELSKY 
MD, SHELDON FREEDMAN MD, 
MATHEW NG MD, DANIEL BURKHEAD 
MDDOE MANAGERS, DIRECTORS AND 
OFFICERS 1-25, ROE BUSINESS 
ENTITIES 1-25; 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No.  :A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No. :XV 

 
DEFENDANTS DR. MATTHEW NG 
AND DR. PANKAJ BHATNAGAR’S 
MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND 
AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
Hearing Date: November 29, 2017 
 
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m. 

Defendants Dr. Matthew Ng and Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar (collectively, the “Defendants”), 

by and through their attorneys of record at HOLLAND & HART LLP, hereby move this Court 

to dismiss all claims for relief against the Defendants. Specifically, the Defendants move to 

dismiss Plaintiff’s negligence based claims and breach of fiduciary duty.  This motion is made 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
10/23/2017 3:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and EDCR 2.20, the Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral argument this Court may allow.   

DATED this 23rd day of October, 2017 
 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By/s/ Susan M. Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
and Pankaj Bhatnagar MD 

 

NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that DR. PANKAJ BHATNAGAR AND DR. MATTHEW 

NG’S MOTION TO DISMISS will come for hearing before Department XV of the above-

entitled Court on the 29th day of November, 2017 at 9:00 a.m. 

DATED this 23rd day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By/s/ Susan M. Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
and Pankaj Bhatnagar MD 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF  

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS  

I. 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 Defendants Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar and Dr. Matthew Ng (collectively “Defendants”), 

former officers of Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“FPSC”), are also victims of the 

despicable conduct caused by Robert Barnes, FPSC’s former officer manager, who embezzled 

monies from FPSC.  Plaintiff Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., as Receiver for FPSC (“Plaintiff” or 

“Gardberg”), seeks to shift liability to the Defendants for the intentional wrongful conduct of 

FPSC’s former officer manager.   

 Here, Plaintiff has alleged claims based on negligence, breach of fiduciary duties, 

breaches of the operating agreement, waste, breaches of NRS Chapter 86, and for imposition of 

a constructive trust.  

The negligence claims must be dismissed under the economic loss doctrine because 

negligence claims must result in physical injury to FPSC’s person or property.  Money is not 

considered property.  Economic injury cannot serve as a basis for a negligence claim.  The 

Nevada Supreme Court previously held that “[b]ecause [Plaintiff’s] claimed damages are purely 

economic in nature, the district court erred in failing to dismiss [Plaintiff’s] negligence claim 

pursuant to the economic loss doctrine.” 

 Furthermore, even if Plaintiff could allege physical injury to person or property (which 

he cannot), Plaintiff’s claims for negligent hiring/supervision/retention must be dismissed 

because these claims impose liability only on an employer (as opposed to the employee).   The 

Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) does not allege the Defendants were the employer of Mr. 

Barnes, but instead acknowledges Mr. Barnes was Plaintiff’s “Office Manager” (see SAC, ¶¶ 

14, 16, 66, 69, 76-77, 168, 172, 176, 182) and that Mr. Barnes’ employment was with FPSC (id. 

at ¶¶ 165, 168, 172, 173 “Flamingo’s employment of Barnes”) (See also id. at ¶ 176 “Barnes 

continued employment as Flamingo’s Office Manager”).   

 In addition, Plaintiff’s claims for breach of fiduciary duties of care and loyalty must also 

be dismissed as a matter of law because the SAC does contain allegations that overcome the 

AA000661
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powerful statutory protections afforded to business decisions made by Nevada officers and 

directors. First, the SAC does not plead allegations specific to Defendants that overcome the 

basic and express statutory presumption that that “Directors and officers, in deciding upon 

matters of business, are presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to 

the interests of the corporation.” NRS 78.138(3). Second, the SAC does not plead allegations 

specific to either Dr. Ng or Dr. Bhatnagar as having engaged in “intentional misconduct, fraud 

or a knowing violation of law” (see NRS 78.138(7)) or acted with gross negligence in order to 

overcome the business judgment rule.  Rather, Plaintiff draws legal conclusions and makes 

assumptions about all defendants, failing to make any allegations specific to Drs. Ng and 

Bhatnagar. 

 Finally, Plaintiff lacks standing to bring claims under NRS Chapter 86.  The Plaintiff has 

not alleged how he has a private right of action for any relief sought under NRS 86.  As such, 

Plaintiff has no standing to assert claims under NRS 86. 

 Accordingly, Plaintiff’s claims based in negligence, breaches of fiduciary duties, and 

violations of NRS Chapter 86 must be dismissed as a matter of law.  

II. 

SUMMARY OF PLAINTIFF’S ALLEGATIONS1  

A. The Receiver. 

 FPSC had a lease for its ambulatory surgery center with Patriot-Reading Associates, 

LLC (“Patriot”).  SAC, ¶ 2.  On March 23, 2014, Patriot sued FPSC for breach of contract 

(Patriot-Reading Associates LLC v.  Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center LLC , case no. A-16-

733627).  Id. at ¶ 5.  Default was entered against FPSC, and default judgment was then entered 

in favor of Patriot.  Id. at ¶¶ 7-8.  On August 10, 2016, Patriot moved for and was granted an 

appointment of receiver over FPSC.  (the “Receivership Order”).  Id. at ¶ 11.  In the September 

13, 2016 order, Timothy R. Mulliner was appointed as receiver (“Mulliner”).  Id.   

                                                 
1 To be clear, Defendants vehemently dispute the numerous false allegations asserted in the SAC. For purposes of 
considering the instant motion, however, the factual allegations are presented as alleged. 
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 The Receivership Order granted the receiver authority to take possession of and manage 

FPSC property, determine whether to make payments and whether to liquidate FPSC property, 

pursue claims which FPSC may have, and pursue claims related to FPSC’s “former 

employee/office manager Robert W. Barnes.”  SAC, ¶ 14.  The receiver was also authorized to 

take any action deemed necessary to collect FPSC’s accounts and debts owed to it.  Id. at 15.   

 On or about July 21, 2017, Mark J. Gardberg replaced Mulliner as the receiver.2 

B. Allegations Against All Defendants. 

Plaintiff alleges that Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar3 and Dr. Matthew Ng4 were both managers, 

directors and/or officers of the FPSC.  SAC, ¶¶ 4, 26, 29.  FPSC was an LLC operating an 

ambulatory surgery center with 27 practicing surgeons located in southwest Las Vegas, Clark 

County, Nevada. Id. at ¶ 2, 24, 44.  Robert J. Barnes (“Barnes”) was FPSC’s office manager  

(Id.  ¶¶ 14, 16, 66, 69, 76-77, 168, 172, 176, 182) and he has since been sentenced to prison for 

his actions, detailed below.  Id. at ¶ 49.   

 Plaintiff alleges that all defendants hired Barnes on October 5, 2006 for the position of 

FPSC’s office manager. Id. at ¶ 66. Plaintiff concedes that Barnes’ employer was the FPSC.  

SAC, ¶¶ 14, 16, 66, 69, 76-77, 168, 172, 176, 182.  Barnes’ functions and responsibilities 

extended to FPSC’s full financial workings, accounts and books. Id. at ¶ 69.  Plaintiff alleges 

that all defendants hired Barnes as FPSC’s Office Manager. Id. at ¶ 70.  Plaintiff alleges that all 

defendants failed to supervise, oversee and/or monitor Barnes for many years during Barnes’ 

crime spree, allowing a criminal to effectuate and conduct his embezzlement and theft from 

FPSC. Id.   

Plaintiff further alleges that all defendants failed – for an unreasonably lengthy period of 

time – to remove Barnes from his position as Office Manager, and to block Barnes’ access to 

FPSC’s funds and assets.  SAC, ¶ 120.  Plaintiff alleges that all “Defendants individually and 

collectively damaged Flamingo though a series of actions and inactions occurring over the 

                                                 
2 From here on, any references to the “Receiver” refer to Gardberg as the receiver. 
3 Plaintiff’s SAC incorrectly spelled Dr. Bhatanagar.  
4 Plaintiff’s SAC incorrectly spelled Dr. Matthew Ng.  
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course of several years,” related to the injury to FPSC caused by Barnes.  Id. at ¶¶  37, 39.  

Specifically, Plaintiff alleges all defendants acted, or failed to act, with “gross negligence, 

willful misconduct, and reckless/intentional disregard” regarding Barnes’ actions, as well as 

their duties to FPSC.  Id. at ¶¶  39-40, 45. 

Barnes admitted in subsequent criminal proceedings (brought by the U.S. Government 

against Barnes) that Barnes embezzled at least $1.3 million during the course of his crime spree 

over many years. SAC, ¶ 98.  Upon discovery of Barnes’ embezzlement and theft, all 

defendants failed to (a) demand that Barnes return FPSC’s funds and assets; (b) pursue Barnes; 

and (c) file a civil complaint against Barnes, with such failures resulting in substantial damages 

against FPSC. Id. at ¶ 121.   

Plaintiff, therefore, went on to allege that all defendants are liable for  

 Grossly negligent hiring, supervision, and retention of Barnes, First – Third 

Causes of Action;  

 Breaches of fiduciary duties of care and loyalty to FPSC, Fourth and Fifth 

(incorrectly labeled Fourth again) Causes of Action; 

 Breach of the operating agreement, Sixth (incorrectly labeled Fifth) Cause of 

Action;  

 Waste, Seventh (incorrectly labeled Sixth) Cause of Action;  

 Breaches of NRS Chapter 86, Eighth (incorrectly labeled Seventh) Cause of 

Action; and  

 Imposition of a constructive trust, Ninth (incorrectly labeled Eighth) Cause of 

Action.   

Plaintiff claimed that all defendants’ stories are inconsistent regarding Barnes’ actions and the 

actions of FPSC, yet that all defendants “slept on their basic obligations for many years, 

[constituting] grossly, willfully and intentionally negligent conduct . . . and, a breach of” all 

defendants’ fiduciary duties to FPSC.  SAC, ¶ 119.  Essentially, Plaintiff alleged all defendants 

“were willfully blind to Barnes’ criminality for several years, and that [all defendants] failed 

upon discovery to immediately stop Barnes and protect [FPSC].”  Id. at ¶ 118. 
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III. 

LEGAL ANALYSIS 

A. Legal Standard Under Rule 12(b)(5) 

Rule 12(b)(5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure (“NRCP”) specifically provides 

that the defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted may be made by 

motion.  Gull v. Hoals t, 77 Nev. 54, 59, 359 P.2d 383, 385 (1961); NRCP 12(b)(5).  In Buzz 

Stew, LLC v . City of North Las Vegas , 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008), the 

Nevada Supreme Court stated that when ruling on a motion to dismiss, the Court must 

“recognize all factual allegations in [the plaintiff’s] complaint as true and draw all inferences in 

its favor.”  However, only “fair” inferences arising from the pleading must be accepted by the 

court.  Simpson v. Mars, Inc. , 113 Nev. 188, 190, 929 P.2d 966, 967 (1997).  In addition, the 

court need not accept as true conclusory allegations or legal characterizations of counsel.  See 

Western Mining Council v. Watt , 643 F.2d 618, 624 (9th Cir. 1981) (interpreting substantively 

identical FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6)). Dismissal for failure to state a claim “can be based on the 

lack of a cognizable legal theory or the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable 

legal theory.” E.g., Balistreri v. P acifica Police Dept. , 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990) 

(quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957)).  

B.  Plaintiff’s Negligence Based Claims Must Be Dismissed Because They Are Barred 

Under the Economic Loss Doctrine.  

Absent injury to person or property, a plaintiff may not recover in negligence for 

economic loss.  Here, Plaintiff’s SAC includes claims for Grossly Negligent Hiring Against All 

Defendants (First Cause of Action), Grossly Negligent Supervision Against All Defendants 

(Second Cause of Action) and Grossly Negligent Retention Against All Defendants (Third 

Cause of Action). All of these three claims are based in negligence but yet Plaintiff’s alleged 

damages are pure monetary losses.  Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Barnes “embezzled at 

least $1.3 million over many years,” up to $3.5 million. SAC, ¶¶  98, 156.    

Plaintiff’s negligence based claims must be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(5) because the 

SAC does not allege that Plaintiff suffered any physical injury to its person or property.  The 
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Nevada Supreme Court has held that “[t]he well established common law rule is that absent [] 

any injury to person or property, a plaintiff may not recover in negligence for economic loss.” 

Local Joint Executive B d. of Las V egas, Culinary Workers Union, Local No. 226 v.  Stern , 98 

Nev. 409, 411, 651 P.2d 637, 638 (1982)(citing Robins Dry Dock & Repair Co., v. Flint , 275 

U.S. 303, 48 S.Ct 14 (1927).  The starting point in Nevada for the Economic Loss Doctrine is 

Stern, which expressly applied the doctrine for the first time and set forth in its underlying 

rationale.   

Since Stern, the Nevada Supreme Court has many times reaffirmed the Economic Loss 

Doctrine. For example, in Arco Prods. Co. v. May , 113 Nev. 1295, 948 P.2d 263 (1997), a 

franchisee of an AM/PM Mini Market sued its franchisor for a defective cash register, which 

often failed to scan purchases made by customers.  The franchisee sued under theories of 

negligence and strict liability.  The Court granted a motion to dismiss with regard to the strict 

products liability claim, but a jury awarded damages on the negligence claim.  The Nevada 

Supreme Court reaffirmed its position that the doctrine applies equally to claims of negligence 

and strict liability.  The Court then reversed the negligence verdict due to the fact that the 

claimed damages were “purely economic in nature.” Arco, 113 Nev. at 1298.  The Nevada 

Supreme Court held that “[b]ecause [Plaintiff’s] claimed damages are purely economic in 

nature, the district court erred in failing to dismiss [Plaintiff’s] negligence claim pursuant to the 

economic loss doctrine.” Id.  The Nevada Supreme Court specifically reaffirmed the well-

founded common law rule that “absent… injury to person or property, a plaintiff may not 

recover in negligence for economic loss.” Arco, 113 Nev. at 1299.  

Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court addressed a similar case to the one at issue.  See 

Jordan v. State of Nevada on Relation to the Dept. of Motor Vehicles , 121 Nev. 44, 110 P.3d 30 

(2005). In Jordan, the Court noted that even assuming a motel owner had a duty to inform 

Plaintiff that a motel guest was a scam artist, the economic loss rule precluded the Plaintiff from 

bringing a negligence claim against the motel owner.  The Nevada Supreme Court held that a 

plaintiff “failed to sufficiently state any cause of action for negligence” because he “did not 

allege that he was physically harmed or injured in any way other that through [a scam artist’s] 
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appropriation of a sum of money.”  Jordan5, 121 Nev. at 51.  

Plaintiff’s SAC seeks damages for economic loss only, and binding Nevada Supreme 

Court authority directs adjudication as a matter of law.  Plaintiff’s negligence based claims are 

an attempt “to pound a square peg in a round hole” for purposes of manufacturing legal liability 

where none exists. For these reasons, all of Plaintiff’s negligence based claims must be 

dismissed which include the following: (1) Grossly Negligent Hiring Against All Defendants 

(First Cause of Action); (2) Grossly Negligent Supervision Against All Defendants (Second 

Cause of Action); and (3) Grossly Negligent Retention Against All Defendants (Third Cause of 

Action). 

C.  Plaintiff’s Claims for Grossly Negligent Hiring/Supervision/Retention Must Be 

Dismissed Because These Claims Impose Liability on an Employer (As Opposed to 

the Employee)   

Moreover, even if the Plaintiff could show physical injury to person or property (which 

Plaintiff does not and cannot allege), the tort of grossly negligent hiring (First Cause of Action), 

grossly negligent supervision (Second Cause of Action) and grossly negligent retention (Third 

Cause of Action) are claims against an employer (as opposed to the employee).  In this case, 

Plaintiff’s SAC acknowledges that Mr. Barnes, the person who embezzled monies from FPSC, 

was its office manager (SAC, ¶¶ 14, 16, 66, 69, 76-77, 168, 172, 176, 182), and that Mr. 

Barnes’ employment was with FPSC (id. at ¶¶ 16 “office manager for Flamingo, Robert J. 

Barnes;” see also  id. at ¶ 69 “Barnes’ functions and responsibilities as Flamingo’s office 

manager;” ¶¶ 76-77 “Barnes’ performance as Flamingo’s office manager;” ¶ 172 “Barnes 

during his employment as Flamingo’s office manager;” ¶ 176 “Barnes’ continued employment 

as Flamingo’s office manager).  In other words, Plaintiff acknowledges that Mr. Barnes’ 

employment was with FPSC, and not the individual physician Defendants.  The torts of 

negligent hiring/supervision/retention are all claims against an “employer” who in this case is 

FPSC, who Plaintiff represents.  

                                                 
5 This case was abrogated by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224 (2008) on unrelated 
grounds.  
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● “The tort of negligent hiring and supervision creates employer liability when 

the employer exacerbates the normal risks to be borne by the business through 

the employer’s own negligence.” (emphasis added) Wright v. Watkins and 

Shepard Trucking, Inc., 968 F. Supp. 2d 1092, 1095 (2013).  

● The Nevada Supreme Court recognized that “negligent hiring liability is 

imposed ‘when the employer knew or should have known that the employee was 

violent or aggressive and might engage in injurious conduct.’” (emphasis added) 

Hall v. SFF , 112 Nev. 1384, 1392, 930 P.2d 94, 99 (1996) (citing Yunker v. 

Honeywell, Inc., 496 N.W.2d 419, 422 (Minn. Ct. App. 1993)).   

● “The tort of negligent training and supervision imposes direct liability on the 

employer if (1) the employer knew that the employee acted in a negligent 

manner, (2) the employer failed to train or supervise the employee adequately, 

and (3) the employer's negligence proximately caused the plaintiffs injuries.” 

(emphasis added). Helle v. Core Home Health Services of Nevada , 2008 WL 

6101984 at * 3 (Nov 20, 2008, Nev.) 

● “To prove negligent supervision/retention, a plaintiff must establish that the 

‘employer knew or should have known its employee behaved in a dangerous or 

otherwise incompetent manner, and that the employer, armed with that actual or 

constructive knowledge, failed to adequately supervise the employee.” (emphasis 

added)  ETT, Inc. v. Delgada, 2010 WL 3246334 at * 7 (April 29, 2010, Nev.) 

Moreover, even if the Plaintiff had alleged injury to person or property (which Plaintiff 

has not alleged), the torts of negligent hiring/supervision/retention are all claims against an 

“employer.”  In this case, the employer was FPSC (as opposed to the individual defendants, 

including Dr. Bhatnagar and Dr. Ng).  Because there is no allegation that Dr. Bhatnagar and Dr. 

Ng were the employers of Barnes, the claims for grossly negligent hiring/supervision/retention 

must be dismissed as against the Defendants.   

D.  Plaintiff’s Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claims Fail as a Matter of Law.  

Plaintiff’s claim for breaches of the fiduciary duties of care and loyalty (Fourth and Fifth 
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(mislabeled in the SAC as fourth and fourth) Causes of Action) must be dismissed against 

Defendants because these claims are governed by an express statutory scheme, known as the 

business judgment rule, that protects officers and directors by strictly limiting the circumstances 

in which they can be held personally liable for their business decisions.  First, NRS 78.138(3)6 

establishes a presumption that “Directors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, are 

presumed to act in good faith, on an informed basis and with a view to the interests of the 

corporation.”  Second, NRS 78.138(7) provides that in order to state a damages claim against 

officers and directors, a plaintiff must allege that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties 

and that they engaged in “intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.”  The 

liability imposed upon directors and officers is set forth in NRS 78.138(7) which, inter a lia, 

states as follows:  
 

7.  Except as otherwise provided in NRS 35.230, 90.660, 91.250, 
452.200, 452.270, 668.045 and 694A.030, or unless the articles of 
incorporation or an amendment thereto, in each case filed on or 
after October 1, 2003, provide for greater individual liability, a 
director or officer is not individually liable to the corporation 
or its stockholders or creditors for any damages as a result of 
any act or failure to act in his or her capacity as a director or 
officer unless it is proven that: 
(a) The director’s or officer’s act or failure to act constituted a 
breach of his or her fiduciary duties as a director or officer; and 
(b) The breach of those duties involved intentional 
misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law. 
 

(emphasis added).  Therefore, the business judgment rule applies to protect Defendants unless 

Plaintiff pleads and proves that the alleged acts or omissions involved breaches of fiduciary 

duty and intentional misconduct, fraud, a knowing violation of law (id.), for an alleged breach 

of the duty of loyalty, or in the case of an alleged breach of the duty of care, “gross negligence 

of uninformed directors and officers.”  Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp. , 122 Nev. 621, 640, 137 

P.3d 1171, 1184 (2006).  

                                                 
6 Though NRS 78 is the Nevada Corporations code and the Plaintiff is a limited liability company, Nevada Courts 
have consistently applied the law of corporations to LLC’s for purposes of the business judgment rule.  Guy v. Casal 
Institute of Nevada, LLC, 2015 WL 56048, at *2 (Jan 5, 2015, D. Nev.) (citing Montgomery v. eTrepped 
Technologies, LLC, 548 F.Supp.2d 1175, 1179 (D. Nev. 2008) (recognizing that federal and state courts have 
consistently applied the law of corporations to LLCs for piercing the corporate veil, the ‘alter ego’ doctrine, the 
‘business judgment rule,’ and derivative actions).” (emphasis added). 
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 In addition, in an effort to spruce up his complaint, Plaintiff dresses up his allegations 

and claims with legal buzzwords like “intentional” and “knowing.”  Indeed, by using these 

terms without any attempt at precision, Plaintiff makes inferences and draws conclusions not 

only to support, but to create his claim of breaches of duty of loyalty to FPSC.  Nonetheless, the 

allegations do not support such conclusory statements made merely for the purposes of trying to 

defeat a motion to dismiss.  See In re Amerco Deriva tive Litigation, 252 P.3d 681, 706 (2011) 

(“conclusory allegations are not considered as expressly pleaded facts or factual inferences”) 

(internal quotation omitted); see also Davenport v. GMAC Mortg. , 2013 WL 5437119 at *3 

(Nev. Sept. 25, 2013) (“[W]e have never held that this type of conclusory legal allegation must 

be accepted as true.”).   

 1. Duty of Care.  

Here, as to the duty of care, alleges that “Defendants completely neglected this duty, 

[and] . . . Defendants’ failures allowed Barnes’ theft continue unabated.”  SAC, ¶ 181.   The 

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendants failed to:  
 
a. oversee, supervise, monitor and discipline Flamingo’s office 
manager, who was embezzling and stealing from Flamingo;  
b. supervise, care for, monitor or even review Flamingo’s books, 
accounts, and finances while Barnes was Flamingo’s office 
manager;  
c. expeditiously remove Barnes from the position of Flamingo’s 
office manager upon the discovery of Barnes’ embezzlement and 
theft;  
d. audit, investigate and/or determine the extent of Barnes’ 
embezzlement and theft to protect Flamingo’s interests;  
e. pursue Barnes on behalf of Flamingo to recover Flamingo’s 
assets, funding and interests from Barnes;  
f. pursue third-parties, including banks holding Flamingo’s funds, 
to recover Flamingo’s assets and funds;  
g. pursue and collect on millions of dollars in receivables owed to 
Flamingo; 
h. take appropriate, reasonable and necessary steps to protect 
Flamingo’s interests vis-à-vis Barnes and certain Defendants; and 
i. protect and pursue, or even register, Flamingo’s interests in 
Barnes’ restitution action – resulting in the rightful victim 
(Flamingo) receiving no award, and Defendants receiving 
personal, ill-gotten awards. 
 

Id. at ¶ 182.  Plaintiff does not plead gross negligence here, nor that the Defendants were 

uninformed.  Actually, Plaintiff cannot decide whether Defendants were uninformed or not.  In 
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fact, Plaintiff at times alleges Defendants had knowledge.  See, e.g.,  SAC, ¶ 46 (alleging 

knowledge of Barnes’ actions), ¶ 54 (alleging knowledge of FPSC’s insolvency and claim to 

restitution).  Accordingly, how could any action or inaction have been uninformed?   

Further, Plaintiff fails to assert any allegations regarding whether Defendants 

specifically sought advice or held any discussions about how to proceed, at any point.  

Plaintiff’s averments pertain to all defendants generally, and in fact, fail to make any allegations 

specific to Drs. Ng and Bhatnagar.7  Therefore, Defendants are protected by the business 

judgment rule regarding the fiduciary duty of care because Plaintiff has not alleged how there 

has been any intentional misconduct by Defendants notwithstanding its use of conclusory and 

unsupported “buzzwords.” 

Further, insomuch as Plaintiff’s negligent hiring/supervision/retention claims must be 

properly directed at FPSC, as the employer (discussed in II.C., supra), any such allegations as 

the basis for the breach of duty of care must also be dismissed as a matter of law, because they 

cannot arise against the Defendants individually, as discussed above.  See SAC, ¶ 182(a)-(c).  

Also, in as much as Plaintiff’s negligent hiring/supervision/retention claims are based in 

negligence, the allegations of the breach of duty of care premised thereon must be dismissed 

under the economic loss theory, as discussed in II.B., supra. 

 2. Duty of Loyalty.  

Similarly, Defendants are protected by the business judgment rule regarding the 

fiduciary duty of loyalty.  Plaintiff fails to allege Defendants knew they were violating the law, 

only alleging that Defendants are included on the Restitution List (SAC, ¶¶ 56, 160).  Plaintiff 

has failed to make any allegations whatsoever that Defendants were the beneficiaries of Barnes’ 

required restitution; that is, Plaintiff failed to allege that Defendants received even a single dime 

in restitution.   

It is well-established that legal conclusions or opinions couched as facts do not preclude 

dismissal.  See, e.g., In  re Amerco Derivative L itigation, 252 P.3d at 706 (“While ‘[p]laintiffs 

                                                 
7 In accordance with the SAC, none of the exhibits attached thereto make any accusations specific to either Dr. Ng 
or Dr. Bhatnagar. 
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are entitled to all reasonable factual inferences that logically flow from the particularized facts 

alleged, ... conclusory allegations are not considered as expressly pleaded facts or factual 

inferences.’”) (citations omitted); see also Davenport , 2013 WL 5437119 at *3 (“Although the 

factual allegations contained in a complaint must be accepted as true, we have never held that 

this type of conclusory legal allegation must be accepted as true.”).  The overuse of these legal 

buzzwords does not mean that Defendants acted in such a manner—it only dresses up Plaintiff’s 

SAC.  As the Supreme Court instructed in Ashcroft v. Iqbal:  the rules do “not unlock the doors . 

. . for a plaintiff armed with nothing more than conclusions.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal , 556 U.S. 662, 

678-79 (2009).  Such conclusions and assumptions cannot lie, and dismissal of this claim is 

warranted. 

E.  Plaintiff’s Lacks Standing to Bring Claims Under NRS Chapter 86.  

Limited liability companies are organized and operate under NRS Chapter 86.  See NRS 

86.141.  Generally, the only private cause of action permitted under NRS 86 is for a derivative 

action; NRS 86.483 – NRS 86.487 contain specific requirements for bringing a derivative 

action.  However, “[i]n a derivative action, the plaintiff must be a member at the time of 

the transaction of which the plaintiff complains.”  NRS 86.485 (emphasis added).  Cf. NRCP 

23.1 (“In a derivative action brought by one or more shareholders or members to enforce a 

right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association . . . .”) (emphasis added).8   

The Complaint does not allege that Plaintiff is or ever was a member of FPSC.  Instead, 

he is the Receiver for FPSC.  SAC, ¶ 24.  Since Plaintiff is not a member, was not a member at 

the time of the alleged harms he cannot file a derivative claim.  See NRS 86.485; Parametric 

Sound Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court in & for County of Clark , 401 P.3d 1100, 1105 

                                                 
8 While Defendants maintain Plaintiff lacks standing to bring a derivative suit because he is not a member of FPSC, 
NRCP 23.1 nonetheless requires a verified complaint alleging “that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the 
time of the transaction of which the plaintiff complains or that the plaintiff's share or membership thereafter 
devolved on the plaintiff by operation of law.”  NRCP 23.1.  Plaintiff has not verified his SAC.  Simply put, he is 
unable to do so by virtue of the fact that he is not now nor has ever been a member of FPSC. 

In addition, NRCP 23.1 requires a plaintiff to have made a demand on the directors, unless such demand would be 
futile.  NRCP 23.1.  See also NRS 86.483; NRS 41.520; Parametric Sound Corp., 401 P.3d at 1105.  Plaintiff fails 
to allege he has made such a demand or the futility of such a demand.  Again, he is unable to do so because he is not 
now nor has ever been a member of FPSC. 

AA000672



 

Page 15 of 17 
10300370_4 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 
H

O
L

L
A

N
D

 &
 H

A
R

T
 L

L
P 

95
55

 H
ill

w
oo

d 
D

riv
e,

 2
nd

 F
lo

or
 

La
s V

eg
as

, N
V

  8
91

34
 

 
(Nev. 2017) (quoting Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc. , 119 Nev. 1, 19, 62 P.3d 720, 732 (2003) 

(“A derivative claim is one brought by a shareholder on behalf of the corporation to recover for 

harm done to the corporation”) (emphasis added).  The Plaintiff has not alleged how he has 

standing to seek any relief under NRS  86. 

In addition, although NRS 86.343 provides for liability of a “member who receives a 

distribution in violation of this section” (NRS 86.343(6)-(7) (emphasis added)), Plaintiff has not 

alleged that Defendants received such distributions.  Plaintiff’s only possible related allegation 

is that all “Defendants also violated, inter a lia, the Nevada law against distributions of LLC 

funds where the LLC is insolvent (NRS 86.343).”  SAC, ¶ 60.  However, as discussed in 

Section II.D., supra, legal conclusions stated as fact should not be accepted as true.  Therefore, 

NRS 86.343 is inapplicable here. 

Further, though “a judgment creditor of a member” is granted a right of action under 

Chapter 86 (NRS 86.401), Plaintiff does not claim to be a judgment creditor of any member of 

FPSC, nor does he allege having a “charging order . . . by which a judgment creditor of a 

member can seek satisfaction.”  Weddell v. H2O, Inc. , 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 271 P.3d 743, 749 

(2012) (internal citation omitted).  Nonetheless, charging orders only provide a right to the 

member’s economic interest in the LLC.  See Becker v. Becker, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 362 P.3d 

641, 644 (2015).  Thus, NRS 86.401 also does not apply in this matter.    

In sum, this is not a derivative suit, nor is Plaintiff afforded any right of action under 

Chapter 86 to raise these claims. Accordingly, the NRS Chapter 86 claims must be dismissed. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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IV. 

CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, the following claims asserted by the Plaintiff, as specific to Drs. Ng and 

Bhatnagar, must be dismissed as a matter of law:  

(1) Grossly Negligent Hiring Against All Defendants (First Cause of Action);  

(2) Grossly Negligent Supervision Against All Defendants (Second Cause of Action);  

(3) Grossly Negligent Retention Against All Defendants (Third Cause of Action);  

(4) Defendants’ Breach of Fiduciary Duty of Care to FPSC (Fourth Cause of Action); 

(5) Defendants’ Breach of Fiduciary Duty of Loyalty to FPSC (Fifth Cause of Action 

(incorrectly labeled Fourth)); and 

(6) Defendants’ Breaches of NRS Chapter 86 (Eighth Cause of Action (incorrectly 

labeled Seventh)). 

DATED this 23rd day of October, 2017 
 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By/s/ Susan M. Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
and Pankaj Bhatnagar MD 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 23rd day of October, 2017, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing DEFENDANTS DR. MATTHEW NG AND DR. PANKAJ BHATNAGAR’S 

MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT was served by the following 

method(s): 
 

 Electronic:  by submitting electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth 
Judicial District Court’s e-filing system and served on counsel electronically in 
accordance with the E-service list to the following email addresses: 

 
Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 
Mulliner Law Group CHTD 
101 Convention Center Drive Ste 650 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 
tmulliner@mullinerlaw.com  

Todd E. Kennedy 
Black and Lobello PLLC 
10777 West Twain Avenue, Ste 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 
George P. Kelsis, Esq. 
Cook & Kelesis, LTD 
517 S. 9th Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
mcook@bkltd.com 
 

 

Robert E. Schumacher, Esq. 
GORDON & REES SCHULLY 
MANSUKHANILLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Ste 1550 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
rschumacher@grsm.com 
 

  
 

 U.S. Mail:  by depositing same in the United States mail, first class postage fully 
prepaid to the persons and addresses listed below: 

 
  
 

 Email:  by electronically delivering a copy via email to the following e-mail address: 
 
   
 

 Facsimile:  by faxing a copy to the following numbers referenced below: 
  

/s/ Yalonda Dekle    
An Employee of Holland & Hart LLP 
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MDSM 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 
Attorney For: Defendant 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., LTD. 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

  
CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

DEFENDANT DANIEL 

BURKHEAD M.D.’S MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 

COMPLAINT  

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ., in his capacity as 

Receiver for, and acting on behalf of,  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
 

 

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., ( “Dr. Burkhead”) by and through his 

attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP, hereby submits this Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint 

(“Motion”) filed by Plaintiff FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC (“Plaintiff”). 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
10/25/2017 5:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Motion is brought pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5) and is 

based upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and any exhibits attached 

thereto, the pleadings and papers on file herein and any oral argument that may be presented at 

the time of hearing on this matter. 

Dated:  October 25, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD, M.D.’S 

MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(B)(5), will be heard on the 

_____ day of ____________ 2017, at the hour of _______ a.m./p.m. or as soon as counsel may 

be heard in the Department XV of the District Court, Clark County, Nevada. 

 

Dated:  October 25, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5                Dec.                                  9:00
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 The Plaintiff was a local ambulatory surgery center (“ASC”) set up as a Nevada limited 

liability company.  Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), ¶ 24.  The ASC’s Operating 

Agreement provides that the company would be run by and through an annually elected Board of 

Managers.  Numerous local physicians invested in the ASC and became owners, some serving 

from time to time (on a volunteer basis) on the company’s Board of Managers.  Dr. Burkhead 

served on the Board of Managers.  However, he resigned from the Board of Managers prior to 

the occurrence of many of the significant events alleged in Plaintiff’s Complaint.  Since that 

time, Plaintiff’s status as a Nevada business entity has been revoked.   

 Plaintiff alleges that Defendants negligently hired, supervised and trained a former 

employee, Robert Barnes (“Barnes”), who served as the company’s office manager.  Plaintiff 

terminated Mr. Barnes after it discovered millions of dollars of revenue could not be accounted 

for.  Ultimately, Mr. Barnes was charged criminally with and convicted of embezzling millions 

of dollars from Plaintiff.  Plaintiff’s negligence claims are barred by the applicable statute of 

limitations, the economic loss doctrine, and due to the fact that they implicate employer liability.  

For these reasons, Plaintiff’s negligence claims should be dismissed as against Dr. Burkhead.  

Alternatively, this Court should stay this action until Plaintiff rectifies it corporate status, which 

is currently revoked by the Nevada Secretary of State. 

II. STATEMENTS OF FACTS 

 Dr. Burkhead was a member of Plaintiff Flamingo Pecos Surgery Center, which is 

currently a defunct and insolvent business entity.  SAC, ¶¶ 1, 30, 42.  Plaintiff’s corporate status 

is currently listed as “revoked” by the Nevada Secretary of State.  See Exhibit 1.  As explained 

below, Plaintiff does not have standing to pursue this action while its corporate status is revoked.  

As such, this case should be stayed for a brief, reasonable amount of time to give Plaintiff the 

opportunity to cure its revoked corporate status.  Until Plaintiff’s revoked status is cured, 
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Plaintiff cannot pursue its claims.  If Plaintiff fails to rectify its corporate standing this suit 

should be dismissed for lack of standing. 

 Plaintiff’s claims against Dr. Burkhead also lack merit because he resigned from the ASC 

prior to many of the acts for which Plaintiff complains.  Further, Plaintiff has alleged that Barnes 

was negligently hired, retained, and supervised by Defendants.  However, Plaintiff filed this 

action well after the statute of limitations for these claims expired.  Additionally, Dr. Burkhead 

was not Barnes’ employer.  Accordingly, he cannot be held liable under Plaintiff’s claims for 

relief.  Finally, because Plaintiff fails to allege any injury to person or property damage, its 

claims are barred under the economic loss doctrine. 

III. DISCUSSION 

A. Legal Standard 

1. Motion to Dismiss 

 Dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5) is proper “where the allegations in the counterclaims, 

taken at face value, and construed favorably in the counterclaimant’s behalf, fail to state a 

cognizable claim for relief.”  Morris v. Bank of Am. Nev., 110 Nev. 1274, 886 P.2d 454 (1994) 

(citations omitted).  Moreover, pleading of conclusions must be “sufficiently definite to give fair 

notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of 

litigation involved.”  Taylor v. State of Nevada, 73 Nev. 151, 152, 153, 311 P.2d 733, 734 

(1957). 

 Further, “[t]he court may take into account matters of public record, orders, items present 

in the record of the case, and any exhibits attached to the complaint when ruling on a motion to 

dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.”  Breliant v. Preferred 

Equities Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 847, 848 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Nev. 1993).  Notwithstanding all 

favorable inferences, Plaintiff cannot establish any set of facts that would entitle it to relief 

against Dr. Burkhead Trail based on the causes of action that are the subject of this motion.  

Blackjack Bonding v. City of Las Vegas Municipal Court, 116 Nev. 1213, 1217, 14 P.3d 1275, 

1278 (2000) (affirming dismissal). 
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B. This Court Should Dismiss the Claims Against Dr. Burkhead   

 
1. The Statute of Limitations has Expired for Plaintiff’s Negligence Claims 

 Plaintiff alleges three negligence based causes of action in its Second Amended 

Complaint (“SAC”).  These causes of action are negligent hiring, supervision, and retention 

relating to Barnes’ employment as the office manager of the ASC.  The statute of limitations for 

negligence is two years.  NRS 11.190(e).  Plaintiff filed its original Complaint on February 10, 

2017.  In the SAC, Plaintiff states Barnes’ was hired on October 5, 2006.  SAC, ¶ 66.  As such, 

the two year statute of limitations had long since expired for a claim of negligent hiring by the 

time of the filing of the Complaint in 2017. 

 Plaintiff alleges that Barnes’ embezzlement was discovered in 2012, but he was not fired 

until 2013.  SAC, ¶ 112.  According to Plaintiff’s own allegations, the statute of limitation began 

accuring for the negligent retention and supervision claims in 2012 or at the latest in 2013.  The 

Complaint was not filed until February 10, 2017, long after the statute of limitations for those 

claims expired. Dr. Burkhead requests that all negligence based causes of action be dismissed 

since the applicable statute of limitations for these claims expired before this action was initiated. 

2. The Torts of Negligent Hiring/Retention/Supervision Implicate Employer Liability 

 Plaintiff improperly alleges causes of action for negligent hiring, supervision, and 

retention against Dr. Burkhead and all of the other Defendants.  Plaintiff, not Dr. Burkhead or the 

other Defendants, employed Barnes as Plaintiff’s office manager.  Only an employer, which was 

Plaintiff itself, can be liable for negligent hiring, supervision and retention.  Since Dr. Burkhead 

was not Barnes’ employer, he cannot be held liable under Plaintiffs’ causes of action.  See 

Wright v. Watkins and Shepard Trucking, Inc., 968 F.Supp.2d 1092, 1095 (2013) (stating the tort 

of negligent hiring “creates employer liability”) (emphasis added). 

 Only an employer can be liable for Plaintiffs’ claims.  Plaintiff did not and cannot allege 

that Dr. Burkhead acted as Barnes’ employer.  Plaintiffs’ claims against Dr. Burkhead must be 

dismissed. 

 Additionally, negligent hiring is based on the failure of an employer to conduct a 

reasonable background check or hires an employee that the employer knew, or should have 
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known, that the employee had dangerous propensities that could result in harm to others.  See 

Hall v. SSF, Inc., 112 Nev. 1384, 1392, 930 P.2d 94, 98 (1996).  There are zero factual 

allegations in the Second Amended Complaint that Dr. Burkhead or the other Defendants failed 

to conduct a reasonable background check or knew before he was hired that Barnes was a risk to 

embezzle money from Plaintiff.  See e.g., SAC, ¶¶ 66-70.  Plaintiff’s sole allegation is a bald 

conclusory allegation that Defendants failed to conduct necessary due diligence.  See SAC ¶ 70.  

Because this is a conclusory statement with no actual facts, the Court does not need to treat it as 

true and may disregard it when deciding this Motion.  Plaintiff did not and cannot plead the 

necessary elements of a negligent hiring claim.  Plaintiff’s negligent hiring claim fails as a matter 

of law and must be dismissed.  

3. The Economic Loss Doctrine Bars Plaintiff’s Negligence Claims 

 Even assuming that Plaintiff could meet the elements for its negligence claims against Dr. 

Burkhead, those claims are precluded by the economic loss doctrine.  Well established Nevada 

law hold that the economic loss doctrine precludes a plaintiff from recovering under theories of 

negligence for purely economic loss.  Local Joint Executive Board v. Stern, 98 Nev. 409, 651 

P.2d 637, 638 (1983) (“The primary purpose of the rule is to shield a defendant from unlimited 

liability for all of the economic consequences of a negligence act, particularly in a commercial or 

professional setting….”); Terracon Consultants Western Inc. v. Mandalay Resort Group, 125 

Nev. 66, 73, 206 P.3d 81, 86 (Nev. 2009) (responding to certified question from the United 

States District Court for the District of Nevada on whether economic loss doctrine bars 

negligence claims where loss is solely economic); Calloway v. City of Reno, 116 Nev. 250, 256, 

993 P.2d 1259, 1263 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Olson v. Richard, 89 P.3d 31, 31-33 

(Nev. 2004) (holding district court properly applied the economic loss doctrine to preclude 

negligence claims where only damages were economic).  Purely economic loss occurs when 

there is no damage or injury to a person or property, and only monetary losses are sustained.  .   

 As part of its causes of action for negligent hiring, retention, and supervision, Plaintiff 

seeks only recovery of economic losses allegedly sustained by Plaintiff as a result of Barnes’ 

embezzlement.  Plaintiff failed to allege any injury to a person or property that occurred as a 
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result of the alleged negligence.  This is precisely the type of claim that is barred under the 

economic loss doctrine.  Plaintiff cannot recover for purely economic loss under a theory of 

negligence.  In order to sustain a cause of action for negligence, Plaintiff must allege injury to 

person or property.  Plaintiff’s SAC completely omits any such allegations.  For these reasons, 

Plaintiff’s negligence based causes of action must be dismissed. 

4. Dr. Burkhead Cannot be Liable for Actions Taken After His Resignation 

 Dr. Burkhead resigned as a member of the ASC.  Many of the actions for which Plaintiff 

complains took place after his resignation.  Plaintiff alleges that the members actions are not 

protected by the business judgment rule.
1
  However, Dr. Burkhead’s resignation insulates him 

from liability for any decisions made by the members after his resignation became effective.  Dr. 

Burkhead cannot be liable for the actions of the members when he was not a member at the time 

such actions were taken.  None of the events alleged in the SAC which occurred after Dr. 

Burkhead’s resignation can be attributed to him. 

 Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant is liable for waste for failing to pursue 

accounts receivable that could have been used to satisfy company debts and breach of NRS 86.  

However, such inaction was not attributable to Dr. Burkhead, as he had already resigned before 

the ASC members failed to pursue such accounts.  Further, Defendant had already resigned 

before the alleged breaches of NRS 86.  For these reasons, the SAC should be dismissed against 

Dr. Burkhead. 

5. Alternatively, the Claims Against Dr. Burkhead Should be Stayed Since Plaintiff 

Lacks Standing to Maintain this Action 

 Plaintiff’s Charter with the Nevada Secretary of State is currently listed as revoked.  See 

Exhibit 1.
2
  When the revoked corporate status is brought to the attention of the court by a 

motion, a reasonable period of time should be allowed to the entity to bring its status back to 

current.  See AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578 (2010).  Although a court 

should stay the action for a brief period of time to allow the entity to be reinstated by the 

                                                 
1
 Plaintiff’s allegation about the business judgment rule is not a factual allegation.  See e.g. SAC, ¶¶ 41, 43.  It is a 

legal conclusion. Accordingly, the Court should not treat that allegation as true for purposes of this Motion.  
2
 The Court may properly take judicial notice of Exhibit 1 as it is a copy of a print out from the Nevada Secretary of 

State’s electronic database and is not susceptible to dispute. Breliant, 109 Nev. at 847.    
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Secretary of State, if the entity does not cure the revoked status the Court can dismiss the case.  

Id. 

 If the Court is not inclined to dismiss this case on the grounds asserted above, Defendant 

requests that this Court stay the case for a brief period of time in order to give Plaintiff an 

opportunity to cure its revoked status.  If Plaintiff fails to cure the revoked status within thirty 

days, then this Court should dismiss the SAC for lack of standing Because Plaintiff has already 

had multiple opportunities to cure the defects in its claims against Dr. Burkhead, the dismissal 

should be with prejudice. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, Dr. Burkhead respectfully requests that this Court dismiss all 

claims against him.  Alternatively, this Court should stay this action for a reasonable time to 

allow Plaintiff an opportunity to reinstate its charter with the Nevada Secretary of State.  If 

Plaintiff fails to do so within a reasonable period of time then this action should be dismissed. 
  

Dated:  October 25 , 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 25
th

 day of October, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy 

of DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND 

AMENDED COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s electronic filing service on all parties 

listed below (unless indicated otherwise): 

 

Timothy E. Kennedy, Esq. 

BLACK & LOBELLO 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/35246185v.1 
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OPPS 
Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
incorrectly named Mathew Ng MD, Pankaj  
Bhatnagar MD incorrectly named Pankaj  
Bhatanagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

WILLIAM SMITH MD, an individual; 
PANKAJ BHATANAGAR MD, an 
individual; MARJORIE BELSKY MD, an 
individual; SHELDON FREEDMAN MD, an 
individual; MATHEW NG MD, an 
individual; DANIEL BURKHEAD MD, an 
individual; DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. : A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No. : XV 

 
MARJORIE BELSKY MD’S 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO 
EXTEND TIME  
 
AND  
 
COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS  
 
 

 

Defendant Marjorie Belsky MD (“Dr. Belsky” or  “Defendant”), by and through her 

counsel of record, Holland & Hart LLP, hereby opposes Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, 

LLC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants, and moves for dismissal of all 

claims asserted against it by Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (as in the Complaint 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
10/25/2017 5:49 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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and First Amended Complaint) and Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., in his capacity as Receiver for, and 

acting on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company 

(in the Second Amended Complaint) (together the “Plaintiff”) in the above-entitled action.  This 

case was filed in February 2017, yet Plaintiff has never served Dr. Belsky with the Summons 

and Complaint.  For this reason, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC’s Motion to Extend must 

be denied, and Plaintiff’s claims against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed. 

This Opposition and Counter-Motion is made pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil 

Procedure (“NRCP”) 12(b)(4) and EDCR 2.20,1 and is based on the attached Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities, the Declaration of Jessica Weiss, attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” the 

papers and pleadings on file in this matter, and any oral argument this Court may allow. 

DATED this 25th day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By /s/ Susan Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD, 
Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
 
 

/ / / 
 
/ / /   
 

                                                 
1 Dr. Belsky retained Holland & Hart, LLP effective October 20, 2017, and was therefore previously unaware of 
Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants.  Accordingly, Dr. 
Belsky now files her Opposition thereto, and Counter-Motion to Dismiss. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO EXTEND TIME AND COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS BY 
MARJORIE BELSKY MD. 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“FPSC”) commenced this action on February 10, 

2017 with the filing of the Complaint.  This action, now on the Second Amended Complaint 

(“SAC”) with Mark J. Gardberg, Esq. (“Gardberg”), in his capacity as Receiver2 for, and acting 

on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC, as the Plaintiff,3 has been pending for over 

eight (8) months, and neither FPSC nor Gardberg has ever served the Complaint, First Amended 

Complaint (“FAC”), or SAC on Dr. Belsky.  Indeed, on September 28, 2017, Gardberg filed a 

Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants (the “Motion to Extend”),4 itself an 

acknowledgement that Dr. Belsky was never served.  See generally Motion to Extend.  Because 

the Summons and Complaint were never served on Dr. Belsky, and no good cause exists for 

failing to timely file the Motion to Extend, the Motion to Extend must be denied and all of 

FPSC’s and Gardberg’s claims against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed. 

II. 

RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Mulliner was appointed as the original Receiver (“Original Receiver”) for FPSC on 

September 12, 2016.  See Declaration of Timothy Mulliner, Esq. (“Mulliner Decl.”), ¶ 2, 

attached to the Motion to Extend.  On February 10, 2017, FPSC, through Mulliner, filed the 

Complaint in this matter.  See Complaint.  FPSC asserts various claims against all defendants, 

including Dr. Belsky.  Id.  According to the docket, Drs. Bhatnagar, Freedman, Ng, and 

Burkhead were served with the Summons and Complaint, and subsequently filed various 

Motions to Dismiss.  See Docket.  However, Dr. Belsky and another defendant were never 
                                                 
2 According to the Motion to Extend, the original Receiver was Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. (“Mulliner”).  Gardberg 
replaced Mulliner as Receiver on July 20, 2017.  See Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16. 
3 While the SAC now lists Gardberg, in his capacity as Receiver, as the Plaintiff, the Motion to Extend still names 
FPSC as the Plaintiff.  These two filings are in discord, and it is unclear how FPSC is able to bring the Motion to 
Extend in light of the fact that there is a Receiver in place. 
4 Dr. Belsky also requests that the Court treat the instant Opposition as a Counter-Motion to Dismiss. 
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served.  See Docket.  See generally Motion to Extend.   

On July 20, 2017, Gardberg replaced Mulliner as the Receiver (“New Receiver”) for 

FPSC.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16. 

According to the docket, on September 18, 2017, FPSC, through Gardberg, filed the 

First Amended Complaint (“FAC”).  See Docket.  A hearing was held on September 26, 2017, 

wherein leave was granted to file a Second Amended Complaint (see id. ), which was 

subsequently filed on October 10, 2017.5  See id.   In between, on September 28, 2017, FPSC, 

through Gardberg, brought a Motion to Extend Time, seeking to extend the time to serve Dr. 

Belsky.6  See Motion to Extend.   

According to the Motion to Extend, Mulliner had focused on FPSC’s assets and claims, 

not service of the Complaint.  Motion to Extend, p. 2:19-23; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5 (“I deferred 

service of the summons and complaint”).  Yet, Mulliner chose to manage and litigate the matter 

himself.  Motion to Extend, p. 2:23-25; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 6.  While the Motion to Extend asserts 

Mulliner was “[m]indful of the time limits in NRCP 4(i)” (id. at 2:25; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7 (“I 

recognize that Rule 4(i) imposed a June 12, 2017 deadline for service in this lawsuit and acted 

accordingly.”), no attempts at service were made prior to June 6, 2017, only six (6) days prior 

to the 120-day deadline imposed by NRCP 4(i).  See Exhibits 1-A and 1-C to Motion to 

Extend (respectively “Exhibit 1-A” and “Exhibit 1-C”).  In fact, Mulliner waited until late May 

to even attempt to find addresses for all the defendants.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7.  A subsequent 

effort at service was made on June 7, 2017, 5 days prior to the 120-day deadline of June 12, 

2017.  See id.  The June 6 attempt was made at Dr. Belsky’s residence (see Exhibit 1-C), and 

the June 7 attempt was made at her office.  Id.  However,  Dr. Belsky was unavailable because 

she was on vacation.  Id.  See also  Declaration of Jessica Weiss (“Weiss Declaration”), a true 

and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” at ¶5.  Ms. Weiss, as authorized by 

Dr. Belsky, offered to accept service of the Summons and Complaint for Dr. Belsky, but the 
                                                 
5 It should be noted that the SAC was filed by Gardberg, in his capacity as Receiver for FPSC.  The same cannot be 
said for the Motion to Extend, as it was filed by FPSC.  Accordingly, it is unclear whether FPSC is the proper party 
to bring the Motion to Extend. 
6 The Motion to Extend also seeks to extend time to serve William Smith MD, another defendant in this matter. 
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process server declined.  Id. at ¶¶ 6, 22. 

Thereafter, efforts at service were made on June 19 and 20, 2017, after the deadline 

imposed by NRCP 4(i).  Exhibit 1-C.  The June 20 attempt at service was again made at Dr. 

Belsky’s place of work.7  Exhibit A at ¶ 7; Exhibit 1-C.  This time, Dr. Belsky was seeing 

patients and was unavailable to accept service.  Exhibit A at ¶¶ 10-12.  Ms. Weiss again offered 

to accept service on Dr. Belsky’s behalf, but the process server declined, saying that only Dr. 

Belsky could accept service of the documents which were marked “HOT.”  Id. at ¶¶ 8, 13.  The 

process server then chose to wait for Dr. Belsky, but then after waiting for less than an hour, 

decided to leave when Dr. Belsky did not emerge to meet with him.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15, 17.   Prior 

to the process server leaving, Ms. Weiss provided him with information for Dr. Belsky’s 

attorney at Bailey Kennedy, stating he could try to attempt service there.  Id. at 16.  Mulliner 

made no effort to contact Bailey Kennedy at that time.  See g enerally Motion to Extend; 

Mulliner Decl. 

Mulliner also claims to have made an attempt to file an Ex Parte Motion to Extend Time 

(the “Ex Parte  Motion”) on June 12, 2017—the deadline for service—via the Court’s efiling 

system.8  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 13.  Mulliner never received confirmation of filing of the Ex Parte 

Motion, indicating that it was not filed.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 15.  Because Mulliner neglected to 

follow-up and check to see whether it had been filed, he “did not realize [the Ex Parte Motion 

was not filed] until much later.”  Id.  Instead, Mulliner blamed his assistant for the failed filing.  

Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.  He further claimed that as a sole practitioner, he is very busy, and struggles to 

keep up due to other matters.  Id. at ¶ 16.  In fact, Mulliner admits he “was not supervising and 

monitoring . . . as closely as [he] should have.”  Id.  Consequently, his ability to perform as the 

                                                 
7 While the Motion to Extend alleges that the process server attempted to serve Dr. Belsky at her office on both June 
19 and 20, 2017 (Motion to Extend, p. 4:17-18), Mulliner’s Declaration and the process server’s affidavits indicate 
that the only attempts at service at Dr. Belsky’s office were on June 7 and 20, 2017.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 17; Exhibits 
1-A and 1-C. 
8 Mulliner’s alleged Ex Parte Motion to Extend Time was not attached as an exhibit to FPSC’s Motion to Extend 
Time, nor is there a declaration from Vince Baladamenti, Mulliner’s assistant (Motion to Extend, ¶13) indicating he 
attempted to file the Ex Parte Motion.  See generally Motion to Extend Time. 
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Original Receiver was impacted because he was so overwhelmed by his practice and personal 

life.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16.  He was subsequently replaced by Gardberg on July 20, 2017.  Id.  

Gardberg did nothing regarding Dr. Belsky’s lack of service until the Motion to Extend was 

filed on September 28, 2017.  See Motion to Extend.  Gardberg was not even aware Dr. Belsky 

had not been served until he was notified by Mulliner on September 7, 2017, nearly two (2) 

months after he became the New Receiver.  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

As of this filing, Dr. Belsky has not been served.  See g enerally Motion to Extend; 

Docket. 

III. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Legal Standard.  

NRCP 12(b)(4) provides that a party may move to dismiss the complaint based on 

“insufficiency of service of process.”  NRCP 12(b)(4).  “The burden is on the Plaintiff to show 

that the service of process . . . meet(s) the requirements of Rule 4.”  Norkunas v. NC Hotel  

Associates, Ltd. , 851 F. Supp.2d 958, 960 (M.D.N.C. 2011) (analyzing the analogous Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 4).  NRCP 4(i) mandates that service of the complaint and summons must be made 

within 120 days, or the action shall be dismissed without prejudice, unless a plaintiff “files a 

motion to enlarge the time for service and shows good cause why such service was not made 

within that period.”  NRCP 4(i).  Good cause must also be shown for failing “to file a timely 

motion seeking enlargement of time.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 

596–97, 245 P.3d 1198, 1201 (2010).   

B. The Motion to Extend Time to Serve Should Be Denied. 

A district court must “first evaluate whether good cause exists for a party’s failure to file 

a timely motion seeking enlargement of time.  Failure to demonstrate such good cause ends 

the district court’s inquiry.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 597, 245 

P.3d 1198, 1201 (2010) (emphasis added).  This initial inquiry supports the purpose of NRCP 

4(i) “to encourage litigants to promptly prosecute matters by properly serving the opposing 

party in a timely manner.”  Id. at 596, 245 P.3d 1201.   

AA000750



 

Page 7 of 16 
10313759_1 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 
H

O
L

L
A

N
D

 &
 H

A
R

T
 L

L
P 

95
55

 H
ill

w
oo

d 
D

riv
e,

 2
nd

 F
lo

or
 

La
s V

eg
as

, N
V

  8
91

34
 

 
1. No good cause exists for failing to timely file a Motion to Extend Time. 

FPSC is mistaken with the applicable standard here, instead arguing that “good cause 

exists for the motion being filed at this time.”  Motion to Extend, p. 8:5-6 (heading III.B.) 

(emphasis added).  Even if good cause did exist to enlarge time, that is insufficient to grant an 

extension.  See id.  at 598, 245 P.3d 1202 (“Even if we concluded that good cause to enlarge 

time existed, which we do not, Saavedra–Sandoval's request would still fail because she did not 

address, and the district court did not consider, why she did not file a motion to enlarge time 

within the 120–day period. NRCP 4(i) requires a party to first show good cause for filing an 

untimely motion. While good cause for failing to file a timely motion and good cause for 

granting an enlargement of time may be the same in some instances, failure to address the issue 

of cause for filing an untimely motion ends the district court's inquiry.”) 

Therefore, a court must assess “whether good cause existed for failing to move to 

extend the service period before its expiration.”  St. John v. Mirage Casino-Hotel , 66835, 

2015 WL 9485176, at *2 (Nev. App. Dec. 16, 2015) (citing Saavedra–Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 

597, 245 P.3d at 1201) (emphasis added). 

In evaluating whether there is good cause for failing to timely file a motion to extend 

time for service, “a court should consider [factors] that would impede the plaintiff's attempts at 

service and, in turn, could result in the filing of an untimely motion to enlarge the time to serve 

the defendant with process: ‘(2) the defendant's efforts at evading service or concealment of 

improper service until after the 120–day period has elapsed, (3) the plaintiff's diligence in 

attempting to serve the defendant, ... and (9) the defendant's knowledge of the existence of the 

lawsuit.’”  Saavedra–Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 597, 245 P.3d 1201 (quoting Scrimer v. Eighth 

Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 507, 519, 998 P.2d 1190, 1196 (2000)).   

Of importance here, a receiver is an officer of the court:   
 
A receiver appointed by the court is a person who by such 

appointment becomes an officer of the court to receive, collect, 
care for, administer, and dispose of the property or the fruits of the 
property of another or others brought under the orders of court by 
the institution of a proper action or actions. 
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A receiver appointed by the court is an arm or hand of the 

court, and as said above, an officer of the court and a 
representative of the court. 

. . . The receiver is but the court's officer.  

Jones v. Free , 83 Nev. 31, 36–37, 422 P.2d 551, 554 (1967) (quoting 1 Clark on Receivers § 

11(a) (pp. 13-14, 3d Ed.)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).  Therefore, not 

only did Mulliner have duties and responsibilities as an attorney, he was an officer of the court, 

acting on the court’s behalf as “an arm or hand of the court.”  As such, he did not act diligently, 

whether as an attorney, or more importantly as the Original Receiver.  Mulliner completely 

failed in his duties as the Original Receiver, and Gardberg should not be given another bite at 

the apple with the SAC because Mulliner was sleeping on the job.  Nor should Gardberg be 

rewarded for his own failure to notice—for nearly two (2) months—that Dr. Belsky had not 

been served and that the Ex Parte Motion was not filed.  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

 First, Mulliner did not exercise diligence in attempting to serve Dr. Belsky.  Mulliner 

chose how to prioritize his duties, and he determined that service was at the bottom of the list, 

“deferr[ing] service of the summons and complaint.”  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5.  See also Motion to 

Extend, p. 2:19-23.  In fact, Mulliner waited until late May to even begin searching for the 

defendants’ addresses for service.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7.  Tellingly, Mulliner offers no reason for 

this delay other than failing to view service as a priority.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5.  See also  

Motion to Extend, p. 2:19-23.  This resulted in the first attempt at service on Dr. Belsky not 

occurring until June 6, 2017, a mere six (6) days prior to the 120-day deadline for service.  See 

Exhibits 1-A and 1-C.  As both an attorney and officer of the court (as the Original Receiver), it 

was incumbent on Mulliner to act appropriately and responsibly in carrying out the duties of the 

Receiver.  By only leaving himself six (6) days to serve Dr. Belsky, he failed miserably.  No 

one told Mulliner to wait until late May to begin searching for Dr. Belsky’s address, or until 

June 6 to begin to try to effect service—these are fatal errors resulting from his choices and 

decisions as the Original Receiver.   

In addition, Mulliner lacked diligence when he accepted the process server’s half-

hearted attempts to serve Dr. Belsky.  On June 7, 2017, when Dr. Belsky was away on vacation, 
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her assistant, Jessica Weiss, offered to accept service as authorized by Dr. Belsky, but the 

process server refused and left.  Exhibit A at ¶¶ 5, 6, 20, 22; Exhibits 1-A and 1-C.  When the 

process server returned, on June 20, 2017 (after the 120-day deadline), Dr. Belsky was busy 

seeing patients and unable to come out to accept service.  Id. at ¶¶ 11-12; Exhibit 1-C.  Ms. 

Weiss again offered to accept service for Dr. Belsky, but the process server declined, instead 

choosing to wait for Dr. Belsky.  Id. at ¶ 14; Exhibit 1-C.  After waiting for less than an hour, 

the process server left, but not before Ms. Weiss provided him with information for Dr. 

Belsky’s attorney at Bailey Kennedy.  Id. at ¶¶ 15-17; Exhibit 1-C.  These are the only two 

attempts at service at Dr. Belsky’s office, and one of the attempts was after the 120-day 

deadline.  In fact, only two other attempts were made at serving Dr. Belsky, both at her home, 

with one coming before the 120-day deadline, and one after.  Exhibits 1-A and 1-C. 

Interestingly, while Ms. Weiss provided contact information for Dr. Belsky’s attorney to 

the process server on June 20, Mulliner does not allege to have contacted Bailey Kennedy at 

that time.  See generally Mulliner Decl.; Motion to Extend.  Therefore, he does not know 

whether Dr. Belsky’s attorney was authorized to accept service at that time. Clearly, Mulliner’s 

poor judgment as the Original Receiver left him no time should issues occur serving Dr. Belsky, 

and then only gave limited effort to additional attempts at service.  Dr. Belsky should not have 

to pay for Mulliner’s poor timing and lack of judgment. 

 Next, Mulliner waited until the last possible moment to file the Ex Parte Motion: June 

12, 2017 (Mulliner Decl., ¶ 13), which was the end of the 120-day period in which to serve Dr. 

Belsky.  His poor choices again left him no room for any issues to arise, which once again 

occurred.  Not surprisingly, Mulliner tries to blame the filing problem on everyone but himself: 

on the court’s e-filing system, on his assistant, and on the fact that he’s a busy sole practitioner.  

Id. at ¶¶ 14-16.  Yet, Mulliner was the one who waited until the eleventh hour to file the Ex 

Parte Motion, after having waited nearly as long to attempt to serve Dr. Belsky.     

 However, Mulliner concedes that he was the one that dropped the ball by not verifying 

that the Ex Parte Motion was, in fact, filed with the Court.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.  He was “very busy, 

[struggling] to keep up due to other matters.”  Id.  Perhaps Mulliner should not have taken on 
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the role of a court officer, of a receiver, if he was too busy to handle the duties that come with 

the position.  Yet, he did, and he pressed on, leaving nearly everything until the last minute 

because of other commitments to his practice, as well as “personal issues.”  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 

16.  Mulliner concedes he “was not supervising and monitoring . . . as closely as [he] should 

have,” yet now Gardberg asks this Court to accept this concession as good cause for failing to 

timely file the Ex Parte  Motion.  This request is absurd, because had Gardberg not been 

appointed to replace Mulliner, Mulliner would likely still be operating under the incorrect 

assumption that the Ex Parte Motion had been filed.   

Ignoring the fact that the Ex Parte Motion was never granted (since it was not filed), 

Mulliner operated as if the [faulty] filing alone was sufficient for him to continue to attempt to 

serve Dr. Belsky.  See Exhibit 1-C (noting attempts at service on June 19 and 20, 2017, after 

the June 12, 2017 deadline imposed by NRCP 4(i)).  His actions make no sense as an attorney, 

much less as an officer of the court.  Mulliner exercised no diligence as the Original Receiver in 

carrying out his duty in serving Dr. Belsky.  FPSC now asks the Court to hold Dr. Belsky 

accountable for Mulliner’s failures and shortcomings as its Original Receiver.  This is 

completely lacking in good cause. 

Mulliner’s delaying attempts at service until six (6) days before the deadline, and stating 

he “regret[s] and take[s] responsibility for failing to adequately monitor and supervise my staff” 

(Mulliner Decl., ¶ 19) are insufficient for a finding of good cause.  He states that once he 

discovered the filing error, he disclosed it to Gardberg and the Court on September 7, 2017, 

nearly three (3) months after the deadline.  Id. This is not exercising diligence; this is a 

complete lack thereof. 

In addition, Gardberg lacked diligence because he failed to notice Dr. Belsky had not 

been served.  He also failed to notice that the Ex Parte Motion had not been filed until he was 

informed by Mulliner.  Again, Dr. Belsky should not be held responsible for the failures of both 

Receivers. 

As the Nevada Court of Appeals cautioned, when a plaintiff’s conduct is what prevents 

compliance with the requirements of NRCP 4(i), good cause does not exist.  See St. John, No. 
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66835, 2015 WL 9485176, at * 2.  “Indeed, if a party could demonstrate good cause based on 

purported impediments created by the party's own actions or inaction, NRCP 4(i)'s requirements 

would have no real meaning as there would be few, if any, circumstances where good cause for 

failure to comply with these requirements could not be found.”  Id.   

In addition, Dr. Belsky’s alleged knowledge of the lawsuit plays no role here.  The fact 

is that Mulliner waited until June 6, 2017 to begin to attempt to serve her.  See Exhibits 1-A and 

1-C.    During attempted service at her residence, no one answered the door.  Id.; Mulliner 

Decl., ¶ 10.  As both Mulliner and the process servers noted, Dr. Belsky was out of the country 

when service was attempted prior to the deadline.  Id.; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 10.  How was she 

evading service when she was unable to accept it in the first place?  Was Dr. Belsky supposed 

to postpone her plans until she was served?  It is a plaintiff’s responsibility to effect service, and 

not a defendant’s responsibility to sit around and wait for it. 

Finally, even had Mulliner served Dr. Belsky on June 19 or 20, 2017, as had been 

attempted, service still would have been improper because (1) it was beyond the 120-day limit 

imposed by NRCP 4(i), and (2) no order had been issued granting an extension of time in which 

Mulliner could serve Dr. Belsky.  For this and the reasons stated above, notwithstanding 

FPSC’s failure to state the appropriate standard, no good cause exists for Mulliner’s failure to 

timely file the Ex Parte Motion. 

2. No good cause exists for failing to serve Dr. Belsky. 

“[O]nly upon a showing of good cause to file an untimely motion to enlarge time for 

service should the district court then apply Scrimer's good-cause factors for the delay in 

service.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 597, 245 P.3d 1198, 1201 

(2010).  Again, FPSC misunderstands the standard to apply here, stating that “good cause exists 

to extend time to serve the remaining defendants.”  Motion to Extend, p. 9:22-23 (heading 

II.C.).  Instead, a plaintiff must demonstrate why good cause exists for a plaintiff’s failure to 

serve a defendant.  Saavedra-Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 597, 245 P.3d at 1201.   

While Dr. Belsky maintains that FPSC has not shown good cause for not timely filing a 

Motion to Extend Time, in the event that the Court finds otherwise, neither does good cause 
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exist for the delay in service.  Granting an extension of time in this situation clear: “Dismissal is 

mandatory unless there is a legitimate excuse for failing to serve within the 120 days.”  

Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. C ourt, 116 Nev. 507, 512-13, 998 P.2d 1190, 1193 (2000) 

(emphasis added).  District courts have discretion to determine good cause.  Id. at 513, 1193-94.   

Here, upon review of the Scrimer factors,9 there exists no “legitimate excuse” for failing 

to timely serve Dr. Belsky.  For example, for the first and second factors, there were no 

difficulties or evasiveness10 in locating Dr. Belsky; she was to be out of the country when 

service was attempted.  The third factor requires a plaintiff’s diligence in attempting service.  

Any arguments regarding Mulliner’s purported diligence have already been debunked herein.  

Not only are Mulliner’s delays inexcusable, Gardberg failed to exercise diligence as well, since 

he failed for nearly two (2) months to discovery that Dr. Belsky had not been served and that 

the Ex Parte Motion had not been filed..  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

As to the fourth factor, Mulliner’s difficulties were of his own making, and the Nevada 

Court of Appeals provides guidance that this should not be considered for good cause.  See St. 

John, No. 66835, 2015 WL 9485176, at * 2.  Also, while the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed 

that a breakup of a law firm and change in office staff constituted good cause for failing to 

timely serve, that is not the case here.  Scrimer, 116 Nev. at 511, 998, 517-518, 998 P.2d at 

1192-93, 1197.  Here, Mulliner first says his assistant failed, then admits that he, himself, 

dropped the ball in monitoring this matter because he was too busy.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 14-16.  

And while Dr. Belsky sympathizes with Mulliner’s health issues (id. at ¶ 16), the fact remains 

that Mulliner did, in fact, wait until the last minute to serve her, and blamed the delay on his 
                                                 
9 The Scrimer factors include: “(1) difficulties in locating the defendant, (2) the defendant's efforts at evading 
service or concealment of improper service until after the 120–day period has lapsed, (3) the plaintiff's diligence in 
attempting to serve the defendant, (4) difficulties encountered by counsel, (5) the running of the applicable statute of 
limitations, (6) the parties' good faith attempts to settle the litigation during the 120–day period, (7) the lapse of time 
between the end of the 120–day period and the actual service of process on the defendant, (8) the prejudice to the 
defendant caused by the plaintiff's delay in serving process, (9) the defendant's knowledge of the existence of the 
lawsuit, and (10) any extensions of time for service granted by the district court.”  Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 
Court, 116 Nev. 507, 516, 998 P.2d 1190, 1195-96 (2000). 
10 Mulliner asserts that Dr. Belsky attempted to evade service because she denied permission for Joseph A. 
Liebman, Esq. to accept service on her behalf, as noted in an email from Mr. Liebman to Mulliner.  Mulliner Decl., 
¶ 11.  However, this email has not been produced as an exhibit to the Motion to Extend, and therefore any claims by 
Mulliner regarding the alleged email are hearsay. 
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own prioritization of other issues above service (not that his health caused the delay in his 

attempts at service).  Id. at ¶ 10. 

The seventh factor also weighs in favor of Dr. Belsky.  Dr. Belsky has not been served 

yet, and 108 days passed from the expiration of the 120-day service period to the filing of the 

Motion to Extend.  Currently, over 130 days have elapsed without service.  This ties into the 

eighth factor, prejudice to the defendant.  In Dallman v. Merrell, service was effected 108 days 

late, and the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed that such a delay was a consideration in finding 

the defendant there was prejudiced.  Dallman v. Merrell, 106 Nev. 9292, 803 P.2d 232 (1990).  

This also weighs in favor of Dr. Belsky.   

For the foregoing reasons, no good cause exists for failing to serve Dr. Belsky, and 

FPSC’s Motion to Extend should be denied. 

C. FPSC’s Complaint Should Be Dismissed for Lack of Service. 

A motion to dismiss is the proper method by which to challenge “a complaint when 

service of process has not been effected with 120 days, as required by NRCP 4(i).”  Lacey v. 

Wen-Neva, Inc., 109 Nev. 341, 347, 849 P.2d 260, 263 (1993), overruled on other grounds by  

Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court , 116 Nev. 507, 998 P.2d 1190 (2000).  If service of the 

complaint and summons are not made within 120 days, and no good cause is shown for failing 

to timely file the motion to enlarge time for service, the action shall be dismissed without 

prejudice.  NRCP 4(i).   

FPSC filed its Complaint on February 10, 2017, and amended it twice since. Yet Dr. 

Belsky still has not been served, more than 250 days later.  See Complaint.  While FPSC moved 

this Court for an extension of the time to serve Dr. Belsky, it was 108 days outside of the 120-

day deadline to serve, and no good cause has been demonstrated for the failure to timely file, as 

demonstrated herein. 

To summarize, Mulliner and Gardberg failed to exercise due diligence through: 

 Mulliner’s decision that service on Dr. Belsky was not a priority; 

 Mulliner waiting until late May to begin searching for an address for Dr. 

Belsky; 
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 Mulliner first attempting service on Dr. Belsky only six (6) days before the 

120-day deadline of June 12, 2017; 

 Mulliner only making two (2) attempts at service prior to the 120-day deadline; 

 Mulliner only making four (4) attempts total at service on Dr. Belsky (two 

before the 120-day deadline, and two after); 

 Mulliner’s failure to allow Ms. Weiss to accept service, since she was 

authorized to accept service for Dr. Belsky; 

 Mulliner’s failure to follow up with Dr. Belsky’s attorney after being provided 

with information from Ms. Weiss; 

 Mulliner attempting to file the Ex Parte Motion on the final day of the 120-day 

deadline; 

 Mulliner’s failure to notice for almost three (3) months that he had not received 

a confirmation for the Ex Parte Motion; 

 Mulliner being too busy to notice for almost three (3) months that no order had 

issued on the Ex Parte Motion, check with his staff, or follow up in any manner 

regarding service on Dr. Belsky;  

 Gardberg failing to notice for six (6) weeks that Dr. Belsky had not been 

served; and  

 Gardberg failing to notice for six (6) weeks that the Ex Parte  Motion had not 

been filed. 

Not only did the Receivers fail to exercise due diligence, Dr. Belsky did not evade 

service.  She was either on vacation, not at home, or seeing patients.  None of these demonstrate 

evasiveness, as FPSC would have the Court believe.  Accordingly, as demonstrated herein, no 

good cause existed for failing to file the Ex Parte Motion or for timely serving Dr. Belsky and 

dismissal is warranted.  See Guido v. Catholic Charities of S. Nevada , 128 Nev. 900, 381 P.3d 

617 (2012) (affirming the district court granting a motion to dismiss, because “[e]ven assuming 

that appellant demonstrated good cause for his failure to timely serve respondents with the 
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summons and complaint, he did not establish good cause for his failure to file a timely motion 

for an extension of time to serve process, and thus, he was not entitled to such an extension”).  

Thus, all claims by FPSC against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed pursuant to NRCP 

12(b)(4) for insufficiency of service of process because FPSC never served Dr. Belsky with a 

Summons or the Complaint as required by NRCP 4. 

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Dr. Marjorie Belsky respectfully requests that this Court deny 

FPSC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants as it pertains to her, and grant her 

Counter-Motion to Dismiss all FPSC’s claims against her. 

DATED this 25th day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By /s/ Susan Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD, 
Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 25th day of October, 2017, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing MARJORIE BELSKY MD’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO EXTEND TIME 

AND COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS was served by the following method(s): 
 

 Electronic:  by submitting electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth 
Judicial District Court’s e-filing system and served on counsel electronically in 
accordance with the E-service list to the following email addresses: 

 
Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

Mulliner Law Group CHTD 

101 Convention Center Drive Ste 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

tmulliner@mullinerlaw.com  

Todd E. Kennedy 

Black and Lobello PLLC 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Ste 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelsis, Esq. 

Cook & Kelesis, LTD 
517 S. 9th Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

mcook@bkltd.com 

 

 

Robert E. Schumacher, Esq. 

GORDON & REES SCHULLY 
MANSUKHANILLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Ste 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

 

 
 U.S. Mail:  by depositing same in the United States mail, first class postage fully 

prepaid to the persons and addresses listed below: 
 
  
 

 Email:  by electronically delivering a copy via email to the following e-mail address: 
 
   
 

 Facsimile:  by faxing a copy to the following numbers referenced below: 
  
 

 
       

/s/ Marie Twist______________________________ 
An Employee of Holland & Hart LLP 
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ERR 
Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
incorrectly named Mathew Ng MD, Pankaj  
Bhatnagar MD incorrectly named Pankaj  
Bhatanagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

WILLIAM SMITH MD, an individual; 
PANKAJ BHATANAGAR MD, an 
individual; MARJORIE BELSKY MD, an 
individual; SHELDON FREEDMAN MD, an 
individual; MATHEW NG MD, an 
individual; DANIEL BURKHEAD MD, an 
individual; DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. : A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No. : XV 

 
ERRATA TO MARJORIE BELSKY 
MD’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO 
EXTEND TIME  
 
AND  
 
COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS  
 
 

 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
10/26/2017 1:51 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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On October 25, 2017, Defendant Marjorie Belsky MD (“Dr. Belsky” or  “Defendant”), 

filed an Opposition to Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve 

Certain Defendants, and Counter-Motion to Dismiss (“Opposition”). Defendant inadvertently 

left “Exhibit A” out of the Opposition. The complete file stamped Opposition and Counter-

Motion, plus the inadvertently omitted “Exhibit A,” is attached to this errata. 

DATED this 26th day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By /s/ Susan Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD, 
Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 26th day of October, 2017, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing ERRATA TO MARJORIE BELSKY MD’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO 

EXTEND TIME AND COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS was served by the following 

method(s): 
 

 Electronic:  by submitting electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth 
Judicial District Court’s e-filing system and served on counsel electronically in 
accordance with the E-service list to the following email addresses: 

 
Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

Mulliner Law Group CHTD 

101 Convention Center Drive Ste 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

tmulliner@mullinerlaw.com  

Todd E. Kennedy 

Black and Lobello PLLC 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Ste 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelsis, Esq. 

Cook & Kelesis, LTD 
517 S. 9th Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

mcook@bkltd.com 

 

 

Robert E. Schumacher, Esq. 

GORDON & REES SCHULLY 
MANSUKHANILLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Ste 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

 
 U.S. Mail:  by depositing same in the United States mail, first class postage fully 

prepaid to the persons and addresses listed below: 
 
  
 

 Email:  by electronically delivering a copy via email to the following e-mail address: 
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OPPS 
Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD 
incorrectly named Mathew Ng MD, Pankaj  
Bhatnagar MD incorrectly named Pankaj  
Bhatanagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

WILLIAM SMITH MD, an individual; 
PANKAJ BHATANAGAR MD, an 
individual; MARJORIE BELSKY MD, an 
individual; SHELDON FREEDMAN MD, an 
individual; MATHEW NG MD, an 
individual; DANIEL BURKHEAD MD, an 
individual; DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. : A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No. : XV 

 
MARJORIE BELSKY MD’S 
OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO 
EXTEND TIME  
 
AND  
 
COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS  
 
 

 

Defendant Marjorie Belsky MD (“Dr. Belsky” or  “Defendant”), by and through her 

counsel of record, Holland & Hart LLP, hereby opposes Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, 

LLC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants, and moves for dismissal of all 

claims asserted against it by Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (as in the Complaint 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
10/25/2017 5:49 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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and First Amended Complaint) and Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., in his capacity as Receiver for, and 

acting on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company 

(in the Second Amended Complaint) (together the “Plaintiff”) in the above-entitled action.  This 

case was filed in February 2017, yet Plaintiff has never served Dr. Belsky with the Summons 

and Complaint.  For this reason, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC’s Motion to Extend must 

be denied, and Plaintiff’s claims against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed. 

This Opposition and Counter-Motion is made pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil 

Procedure (“NRCP”) 12(b)(4) and EDCR 2.20,1 and is based on the attached Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities, the Declaration of Jessica Weiss, attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” the 

papers and pleadings on file in this matter, and any oral argument this Court may allow. 

DATED this 25th day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By /s/ Susan Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD, 
Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
 
 

/ / / 
 
/ / /   
 

                                                 
1 Dr. Belsky retained Holland & Hart, LLP effective October 20, 2017, and was therefore previously unaware of 
Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants.  Accordingly, Dr. 
Belsky now files her Opposition thereto, and Counter-Motion to Dismiss. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO EXTEND TIME AND COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS BY 
MARJORIE BELSKY MD. 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“FPSC”) commenced this action on February 10, 

2017 with the filing of the Complaint.  This action, now on the Second Amended Complaint 

(“SAC”) with Mark J. Gardberg, Esq. (“Gardberg”), in his capacity as Receiver2 for, and acting 

on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC, as the Plaintiff,3 has been pending for over 

eight (8) months, and neither FPSC nor Gardberg has ever served the Complaint, First Amended 

Complaint (“FAC”), or SAC on Dr. Belsky.  Indeed, on September 28, 2017, Gardberg filed a 

Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants (the “Motion to Extend”),4 itself an 

acknowledgement that Dr. Belsky was never served.  See generally Motion to Extend.  Because 

the Summons and Complaint were never served on Dr. Belsky, and no good cause exists for 

failing to timely file the Motion to Extend, the Motion to Extend must be denied and all of 

FPSC’s and Gardberg’s claims against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed. 

II. 

RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Mulliner was appointed as the original Receiver (“Original Receiver”) for FPSC on 

September 12, 2016.  See Declaration of Timothy Mulliner, Esq. (“Mulliner Decl.”), ¶ 2, 

attached to the Motion to Extend.  On February 10, 2017, FPSC, through Mulliner, filed the 

Complaint in this matter.  See Complaint.  FPSC asserts various claims against all defendants, 

including Dr. Belsky.  Id.  According to the docket, Drs. Bhatnagar, Freedman, Ng, and 

Burkhead were served with the Summons and Complaint, and subsequently filed various 

Motions to Dismiss.  See Docket.  However, Dr. Belsky and another defendant were never 
                                                 
2 According to the Motion to Extend, the original Receiver was Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. (“Mulliner”).  Gardberg 
replaced Mulliner as Receiver on July 20, 2017.  See Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16. 
3 While the SAC now lists Gardberg, in his capacity as Receiver, as the Plaintiff, the Motion to Extend still names 
FPSC as the Plaintiff.  These two filings are in discord, and it is unclear how FPSC is able to bring the Motion to 
Extend in light of the fact that there is a Receiver in place. 
4 Dr. Belsky also requests that the Court treat the instant Opposition as a Counter-Motion to Dismiss. 
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served.  See Docket.  See generally Motion to Extend.   

On July 20, 2017, Gardberg replaced Mulliner as the Receiver (“New Receiver”) for 

FPSC.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16. 

According to the docket, on September 18, 2017, FPSC, through Gardberg, filed the 

First Amended Complaint (“FAC”).  See Docket.  A hearing was held on September 26, 2017, 

wherein leave was granted to file a Second Amended Complaint (see id. ), which was 

subsequently filed on October 10, 2017.5  See id.   In between, on September 28, 2017, FPSC, 

through Gardberg, brought a Motion to Extend Time, seeking to extend the time to serve Dr. 

Belsky.6  See Motion to Extend.   

According to the Motion to Extend, Mulliner had focused on FPSC’s assets and claims, 

not service of the Complaint.  Motion to Extend, p. 2:19-23; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5 (“I deferred 

service of the summons and complaint”).  Yet, Mulliner chose to manage and litigate the matter 

himself.  Motion to Extend, p. 2:23-25; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 6.  While the Motion to Extend asserts 

Mulliner was “[m]indful of the time limits in NRCP 4(i)” (id. at 2:25; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7 (“I 

recognize that Rule 4(i) imposed a June 12, 2017 deadline for service in this lawsuit and acted 

accordingly.”), no attempts at service were made prior to June 6, 2017, only six (6) days prior 

to the 120-day deadline imposed by NRCP 4(i).  See Exhibits 1-A and 1-C to Motion to 

Extend (respectively “Exhibit 1-A” and “Exhibit 1-C”).  In fact, Mulliner waited until late May 

to even attempt to find addresses for all the defendants.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7.  A subsequent 

effort at service was made on June 7, 2017, 5 days prior to the 120-day deadline of June 12, 

2017.  See id.  The June 6 attempt was made at Dr. Belsky’s residence (see Exhibit 1-C), and 

the June 7 attempt was made at her office.  Id.  However,  Dr. Belsky was unavailable because 

she was on vacation.  Id.  See also  Declaration of Jessica Weiss (“Weiss Declaration”), a true 

and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” at ¶5.  Ms. Weiss, as authorized by 

Dr. Belsky, offered to accept service of the Summons and Complaint for Dr. Belsky, but the 
                                                 
5 It should be noted that the SAC was filed by Gardberg, in his capacity as Receiver for FPSC.  The same cannot be 
said for the Motion to Extend, as it was filed by FPSC.  Accordingly, it is unclear whether FPSC is the proper party 
to bring the Motion to Extend. 
6 The Motion to Extend also seeks to extend time to serve William Smith MD, another defendant in this matter. 
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process server declined.  Id. at ¶¶ 6, 22. 

Thereafter, efforts at service were made on June 19 and 20, 2017, after the deadline 

imposed by NRCP 4(i).  Exhibit 1-C.  The June 20 attempt at service was again made at Dr. 

Belsky’s place of work.7  Exhibit A at ¶ 7; Exhibit 1-C.  This time, Dr. Belsky was seeing 

patients and was unavailable to accept service.  Exhibit A at ¶¶ 10-12.  Ms. Weiss again offered 

to accept service on Dr. Belsky’s behalf, but the process server declined, saying that only Dr. 

Belsky could accept service of the documents which were marked “HOT.”  Id. at ¶¶ 8, 13.  The 

process server then chose to wait for Dr. Belsky, but then after waiting for less than an hour, 

decided to leave when Dr. Belsky did not emerge to meet with him.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15, 17.   Prior 

to the process server leaving, Ms. Weiss provided him with information for Dr. Belsky’s 

attorney at Bailey Kennedy, stating he could try to attempt service there.  Id. at 16.  Mulliner 

made no effort to contact Bailey Kennedy at that time.  See g enerally Motion to Extend; 

Mulliner Decl. 

Mulliner also claims to have made an attempt to file an Ex Parte Motion to Extend Time 

(the “Ex Parte  Motion”) on June 12, 2017—the deadline for service—via the Court’s efiling 

system.8  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 13.  Mulliner never received confirmation of filing of the Ex Parte 

Motion, indicating that it was not filed.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 15.  Because Mulliner neglected to 

follow-up and check to see whether it had been filed, he “did not realize [the Ex Parte Motion 

was not filed] until much later.”  Id.  Instead, Mulliner blamed his assistant for the failed filing.  

Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.  He further claimed that as a sole practitioner, he is very busy, and struggles to 

keep up due to other matters.  Id. at ¶ 16.  In fact, Mulliner admits he “was not supervising and 

monitoring . . . as closely as [he] should have.”  Id.  Consequently, his ability to perform as the 

                                                 
7 While the Motion to Extend alleges that the process server attempted to serve Dr. Belsky at her office on both June 
19 and 20, 2017 (Motion to Extend, p. 4:17-18), Mulliner’s Declaration and the process server’s affidavits indicate 
that the only attempts at service at Dr. Belsky’s office were on June 7 and 20, 2017.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 17; Exhibits 
1-A and 1-C. 
8 Mulliner’s alleged Ex Parte Motion to Extend Time was not attached as an exhibit to FPSC’s Motion to Extend 
Time, nor is there a declaration from Vince Baladamenti, Mulliner’s assistant (Motion to Extend, ¶13) indicating he 
attempted to file the Ex Parte Motion.  See generally Motion to Extend Time. 
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Original Receiver was impacted because he was so overwhelmed by his practice and personal 

life.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 16.  He was subsequently replaced by Gardberg on July 20, 2017.  Id.  

Gardberg did nothing regarding Dr. Belsky’s lack of service until the Motion to Extend was 

filed on September 28, 2017.  See Motion to Extend.  Gardberg was not even aware Dr. Belsky 

had not been served until he was notified by Mulliner on September 7, 2017, nearly two (2) 

months after he became the New Receiver.  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

As of this filing, Dr. Belsky has not been served.  See g enerally Motion to Extend; 

Docket. 

III. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Legal Standard.  

NRCP 12(b)(4) provides that a party may move to dismiss the complaint based on 

“insufficiency of service of process.”  NRCP 12(b)(4).  “The burden is on the Plaintiff to show 

that the service of process . . . meet(s) the requirements of Rule 4.”  Norkunas v. NC Hotel  

Associates, Ltd. , 851 F. Supp.2d 958, 960 (M.D.N.C. 2011) (analyzing the analogous Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 4).  NRCP 4(i) mandates that service of the complaint and summons must be made 

within 120 days, or the action shall be dismissed without prejudice, unless a plaintiff “files a 

motion to enlarge the time for service and shows good cause why such service was not made 

within that period.”  NRCP 4(i).  Good cause must also be shown for failing “to file a timely 

motion seeking enlargement of time.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 

596–97, 245 P.3d 1198, 1201 (2010).   

B. The Motion to Extend Time to Serve Should Be Denied. 

A district court must “first evaluate whether good cause exists for a party’s failure to file 

a timely motion seeking enlargement of time.  Failure to demonstrate such good cause ends 

the district court’s inquiry.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 597, 245 

P.3d 1198, 1201 (2010) (emphasis added).  This initial inquiry supports the purpose of NRCP 

4(i) “to encourage litigants to promptly prosecute matters by properly serving the opposing 

party in a timely manner.”  Id. at 596, 245 P.3d 1201.   
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1. No good cause exists for failing to timely file a Motion to Extend Time. 

FPSC is mistaken with the applicable standard here, instead arguing that “good cause 

exists for the motion being filed at this time.”  Motion to Extend, p. 8:5-6 (heading III.B.) 

(emphasis added).  Even if good cause did exist to enlarge time, that is insufficient to grant an 

extension.  See id.  at 598, 245 P.3d 1202 (“Even if we concluded that good cause to enlarge 

time existed, which we do not, Saavedra–Sandoval's request would still fail because she did not 

address, and the district court did not consider, why she did not file a motion to enlarge time 

within the 120–day period. NRCP 4(i) requires a party to first show good cause for filing an 

untimely motion. While good cause for failing to file a timely motion and good cause for 

granting an enlargement of time may be the same in some instances, failure to address the issue 

of cause for filing an untimely motion ends the district court's inquiry.”) 

Therefore, a court must assess “whether good cause existed for failing to move to 

extend the service period before its expiration.”  St. John v. Mirage Casino-Hotel , 66835, 

2015 WL 9485176, at *2 (Nev. App. Dec. 16, 2015) (citing Saavedra–Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 

597, 245 P.3d at 1201) (emphasis added). 

In evaluating whether there is good cause for failing to timely file a motion to extend 

time for service, “a court should consider [factors] that would impede the plaintiff's attempts at 

service and, in turn, could result in the filing of an untimely motion to enlarge the time to serve 

the defendant with process: ‘(2) the defendant's efforts at evading service or concealment of 

improper service until after the 120–day period has elapsed, (3) the plaintiff's diligence in 

attempting to serve the defendant, ... and (9) the defendant's knowledge of the existence of the 

lawsuit.’”  Saavedra–Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 597, 245 P.3d 1201 (quoting Scrimer v. Eighth 

Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 507, 519, 998 P.2d 1190, 1196 (2000)).   

Of importance here, a receiver is an officer of the court:   
 
A receiver appointed by the court is a person who by such 

appointment becomes an officer of the court to receive, collect, 
care for, administer, and dispose of the property or the fruits of the 
property of another or others brought under the orders of court by 
the institution of a proper action or actions. 
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A receiver appointed by the court is an arm or hand of the 

court, and as said above, an officer of the court and a 
representative of the court. 

. . . The receiver is but the court's officer.  

Jones v. Free , 83 Nev. 31, 36–37, 422 P.2d 551, 554 (1967) (quoting 1 Clark on Receivers § 

11(a) (pp. 13-14, 3d Ed.)) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).  Therefore, not 

only did Mulliner have duties and responsibilities as an attorney, he was an officer of the court, 

acting on the court’s behalf as “an arm or hand of the court.”  As such, he did not act diligently, 

whether as an attorney, or more importantly as the Original Receiver.  Mulliner completely 

failed in his duties as the Original Receiver, and Gardberg should not be given another bite at 

the apple with the SAC because Mulliner was sleeping on the job.  Nor should Gardberg be 

rewarded for his own failure to notice—for nearly two (2) months—that Dr. Belsky had not 

been served and that the Ex Parte Motion was not filed.  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

 First, Mulliner did not exercise diligence in attempting to serve Dr. Belsky.  Mulliner 

chose how to prioritize his duties, and he determined that service was at the bottom of the list, 

“deferr[ing] service of the summons and complaint.”  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5.  See also Motion to 

Extend, p. 2:19-23.  In fact, Mulliner waited until late May to even begin searching for the 

defendants’ addresses for service.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 7.  Tellingly, Mulliner offers no reason for 

this delay other than failing to view service as a priority.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 5.  See also  

Motion to Extend, p. 2:19-23.  This resulted in the first attempt at service on Dr. Belsky not 

occurring until June 6, 2017, a mere six (6) days prior to the 120-day deadline for service.  See 

Exhibits 1-A and 1-C.  As both an attorney and officer of the court (as the Original Receiver), it 

was incumbent on Mulliner to act appropriately and responsibly in carrying out the duties of the 

Receiver.  By only leaving himself six (6) days to serve Dr. Belsky, he failed miserably.  No 

one told Mulliner to wait until late May to begin searching for Dr. Belsky’s address, or until 

June 6 to begin to try to effect service—these are fatal errors resulting from his choices and 

decisions as the Original Receiver.   

In addition, Mulliner lacked diligence when he accepted the process server’s half-

hearted attempts to serve Dr. Belsky.  On June 7, 2017, when Dr. Belsky was away on vacation, 
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her assistant, Jessica Weiss, offered to accept service as authorized by Dr. Belsky, but the 

process server refused and left.  Exhibit A at ¶¶ 5, 6, 20, 22; Exhibits 1-A and 1-C.  When the 

process server returned, on June 20, 2017 (after the 120-day deadline), Dr. Belsky was busy 

seeing patients and unable to come out to accept service.  Id. at ¶¶ 11-12; Exhibit 1-C.  Ms. 

Weiss again offered to accept service for Dr. Belsky, but the process server declined, instead 

choosing to wait for Dr. Belsky.  Id. at ¶ 14; Exhibit 1-C.  After waiting for less than an hour, 

the process server left, but not before Ms. Weiss provided him with information for Dr. 

Belsky’s attorney at Bailey Kennedy.  Id. at ¶¶ 15-17; Exhibit 1-C.  These are the only two 

attempts at service at Dr. Belsky’s office, and one of the attempts was after the 120-day 

deadline.  In fact, only two other attempts were made at serving Dr. Belsky, both at her home, 

with one coming before the 120-day deadline, and one after.  Exhibits 1-A and 1-C. 

Interestingly, while Ms. Weiss provided contact information for Dr. Belsky’s attorney to 

the process server on June 20, Mulliner does not allege to have contacted Bailey Kennedy at 

that time.  See generally Mulliner Decl.; Motion to Extend.  Therefore, he does not know 

whether Dr. Belsky’s attorney was authorized to accept service at that time. Clearly, Mulliner’s 

poor judgment as the Original Receiver left him no time should issues occur serving Dr. Belsky, 

and then only gave limited effort to additional attempts at service.  Dr. Belsky should not have 

to pay for Mulliner’s poor timing and lack of judgment. 

 Next, Mulliner waited until the last possible moment to file the Ex Parte Motion: June 

12, 2017 (Mulliner Decl., ¶ 13), which was the end of the 120-day period in which to serve Dr. 

Belsky.  His poor choices again left him no room for any issues to arise, which once again 

occurred.  Not surprisingly, Mulliner tries to blame the filing problem on everyone but himself: 

on the court’s e-filing system, on his assistant, and on the fact that he’s a busy sole practitioner.  

Id. at ¶¶ 14-16.  Yet, Mulliner was the one who waited until the eleventh hour to file the Ex 

Parte Motion, after having waited nearly as long to attempt to serve Dr. Belsky.     

 However, Mulliner concedes that he was the one that dropped the ball by not verifying 

that the Ex Parte Motion was, in fact, filed with the Court.  Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.  He was “very busy, 

[struggling] to keep up due to other matters.”  Id.  Perhaps Mulliner should not have taken on 
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the role of a court officer, of a receiver, if he was too busy to handle the duties that come with 

the position.  Yet, he did, and he pressed on, leaving nearly everything until the last minute 

because of other commitments to his practice, as well as “personal issues.”  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 

16.  Mulliner concedes he “was not supervising and monitoring . . . as closely as [he] should 

have,” yet now Gardberg asks this Court to accept this concession as good cause for failing to 

timely file the Ex Parte  Motion.  This request is absurd, because had Gardberg not been 

appointed to replace Mulliner, Mulliner would likely still be operating under the incorrect 

assumption that the Ex Parte Motion had been filed.   

Ignoring the fact that the Ex Parte Motion was never granted (since it was not filed), 

Mulliner operated as if the [faulty] filing alone was sufficient for him to continue to attempt to 

serve Dr. Belsky.  See Exhibit 1-C (noting attempts at service on June 19 and 20, 2017, after 

the June 12, 2017 deadline imposed by NRCP 4(i)).  His actions make no sense as an attorney, 

much less as an officer of the court.  Mulliner exercised no diligence as the Original Receiver in 

carrying out his duty in serving Dr. Belsky.  FPSC now asks the Court to hold Dr. Belsky 

accountable for Mulliner’s failures and shortcomings as its Original Receiver.  This is 

completely lacking in good cause. 

Mulliner’s delaying attempts at service until six (6) days before the deadline, and stating 

he “regret[s] and take[s] responsibility for failing to adequately monitor and supervise my staff” 

(Mulliner Decl., ¶ 19) are insufficient for a finding of good cause.  He states that once he 

discovered the filing error, he disclosed it to Gardberg and the Court on September 7, 2017, 

nearly three (3) months after the deadline.  Id. This is not exercising diligence; this is a 

complete lack thereof. 

In addition, Gardberg lacked diligence because he failed to notice Dr. Belsky had not 

been served.  He also failed to notice that the Ex Parte Motion had not been filed until he was 

informed by Mulliner.  Again, Dr. Belsky should not be held responsible for the failures of both 

Receivers. 

As the Nevada Court of Appeals cautioned, when a plaintiff’s conduct is what prevents 

compliance with the requirements of NRCP 4(i), good cause does not exist.  See St. John, No. 
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66835, 2015 WL 9485176, at * 2.  “Indeed, if a party could demonstrate good cause based on 

purported impediments created by the party's own actions or inaction, NRCP 4(i)'s requirements 

would have no real meaning as there would be few, if any, circumstances where good cause for 

failure to comply with these requirements could not be found.”  Id.   

In addition, Dr. Belsky’s alleged knowledge of the lawsuit plays no role here.  The fact 

is that Mulliner waited until June 6, 2017 to begin to attempt to serve her.  See Exhibits 1-A and 

1-C.    During attempted service at her residence, no one answered the door.  Id.; Mulliner 

Decl., ¶ 10.  As both Mulliner and the process servers noted, Dr. Belsky was out of the country 

when service was attempted prior to the deadline.  Id.; Mulliner Decl., ¶ 10.  How was she 

evading service when she was unable to accept it in the first place?  Was Dr. Belsky supposed 

to postpone her plans until she was served?  It is a plaintiff’s responsibility to effect service, and 

not a defendant’s responsibility to sit around and wait for it. 

Finally, even had Mulliner served Dr. Belsky on June 19 or 20, 2017, as had been 

attempted, service still would have been improper because (1) it was beyond the 120-day limit 

imposed by NRCP 4(i), and (2) no order had been issued granting an extension of time in which 

Mulliner could serve Dr. Belsky.  For this and the reasons stated above, notwithstanding 

FPSC’s failure to state the appropriate standard, no good cause exists for Mulliner’s failure to 

timely file the Ex Parte Motion. 

2. No good cause exists for failing to serve Dr. Belsky. 

“[O]nly upon a showing of good cause to file an untimely motion to enlarge time for 

service should the district court then apply Scrimer's good-cause factors for the delay in 

service.”  Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores , 126 Nev. 592, 597, 245 P.3d 1198, 1201 

(2010).  Again, FPSC misunderstands the standard to apply here, stating that “good cause exists 

to extend time to serve the remaining defendants.”  Motion to Extend, p. 9:22-23 (heading 

II.C.).  Instead, a plaintiff must demonstrate why good cause exists for a plaintiff’s failure to 

serve a defendant.  Saavedra-Sandoval, 126 Nev. at 597, 245 P.3d at 1201.   

While Dr. Belsky maintains that FPSC has not shown good cause for not timely filing a 

Motion to Extend Time, in the event that the Court finds otherwise, neither does good cause 
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exist for the delay in service.  Granting an extension of time in this situation clear: “Dismissal is 

mandatory unless there is a legitimate excuse for failing to serve within the 120 days.”  

Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. C ourt, 116 Nev. 507, 512-13, 998 P.2d 1190, 1193 (2000) 

(emphasis added).  District courts have discretion to determine good cause.  Id. at 513, 1193-94.   

Here, upon review of the Scrimer factors,9 there exists no “legitimate excuse” for failing 

to timely serve Dr. Belsky.  For example, for the first and second factors, there were no 

difficulties or evasiveness10 in locating Dr. Belsky; she was to be out of the country when 

service was attempted.  The third factor requires a plaintiff’s diligence in attempting service.  

Any arguments regarding Mulliner’s purported diligence have already been debunked herein.  

Not only are Mulliner’s delays inexcusable, Gardberg failed to exercise diligence as well, since 

he failed for nearly two (2) months to discovery that Dr. Belsky had not been served and that 

the Ex Parte Motion had not been filed..  Motion to Extend, p. 12:17-18. 

As to the fourth factor, Mulliner’s difficulties were of his own making, and the Nevada 

Court of Appeals provides guidance that this should not be considered for good cause.  See St. 

John, No. 66835, 2015 WL 9485176, at * 2.  Also, while the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed 

that a breakup of a law firm and change in office staff constituted good cause for failing to 

timely serve, that is not the case here.  Scrimer, 116 Nev. at 511, 998, 517-518, 998 P.2d at 

1192-93, 1197.  Here, Mulliner first says his assistant failed, then admits that he, himself, 

dropped the ball in monitoring this matter because he was too busy.  Mulliner Decl., ¶ 14-16.  

And while Dr. Belsky sympathizes with Mulliner’s health issues (id. at ¶ 16), the fact remains 

that Mulliner did, in fact, wait until the last minute to serve her, and blamed the delay on his 
                                                 
9 The Scrimer factors include: “(1) difficulties in locating the defendant, (2) the defendant's efforts at evading 
service or concealment of improper service until after the 120–day period has lapsed, (3) the plaintiff's diligence in 
attempting to serve the defendant, (4) difficulties encountered by counsel, (5) the running of the applicable statute of 
limitations, (6) the parties' good faith attempts to settle the litigation during the 120–day period, (7) the lapse of time 
between the end of the 120–day period and the actual service of process on the defendant, (8) the prejudice to the 
defendant caused by the plaintiff's delay in serving process, (9) the defendant's knowledge of the existence of the 
lawsuit, and (10) any extensions of time for service granted by the district court.”  Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 
Court, 116 Nev. 507, 516, 998 P.2d 1190, 1195-96 (2000). 
10 Mulliner asserts that Dr. Belsky attempted to evade service because she denied permission for Joseph A. 
Liebman, Esq. to accept service on her behalf, as noted in an email from Mr. Liebman to Mulliner.  Mulliner Decl., 
¶ 11.  However, this email has not been produced as an exhibit to the Motion to Extend, and therefore any claims by 
Mulliner regarding the alleged email are hearsay. 

AA000775



 

Page 13 of 16 
10313759_1 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 
H

O
L

L
A

N
D

 &
 H

A
R

T
 L

L
P 

95
55

 H
ill

w
oo

d 
D

riv
e,

 2
nd

 F
lo

or
 

La
s V

eg
as

, N
V

  8
91

34
 

 
own prioritization of other issues above service (not that his health caused the delay in his 

attempts at service).  Id. at ¶ 10. 

The seventh factor also weighs in favor of Dr. Belsky.  Dr. Belsky has not been served 

yet, and 108 days passed from the expiration of the 120-day service period to the filing of the 

Motion to Extend.  Currently, over 130 days have elapsed without service.  This ties into the 

eighth factor, prejudice to the defendant.  In Dallman v. Merrell, service was effected 108 days 

late, and the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed that such a delay was a consideration in finding 

the defendant there was prejudiced.  Dallman v. Merrell, 106 Nev. 9292, 803 P.2d 232 (1990).  

This also weighs in favor of Dr. Belsky.   

For the foregoing reasons, no good cause exists for failing to serve Dr. Belsky, and 

FPSC’s Motion to Extend should be denied. 

C. FPSC’s Complaint Should Be Dismissed for Lack of Service. 

A motion to dismiss is the proper method by which to challenge “a complaint when 

service of process has not been effected with 120 days, as required by NRCP 4(i).”  Lacey v. 

Wen-Neva, Inc., 109 Nev. 341, 347, 849 P.2d 260, 263 (1993), overruled on other grounds by  

Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court , 116 Nev. 507, 998 P.2d 1190 (2000).  If service of the 

complaint and summons are not made within 120 days, and no good cause is shown for failing 

to timely file the motion to enlarge time for service, the action shall be dismissed without 

prejudice.  NRCP 4(i).   

FPSC filed its Complaint on February 10, 2017, and amended it twice since. Yet Dr. 

Belsky still has not been served, more than 250 days later.  See Complaint.  While FPSC moved 

this Court for an extension of the time to serve Dr. Belsky, it was 108 days outside of the 120-

day deadline to serve, and no good cause has been demonstrated for the failure to timely file, as 

demonstrated herein. 

To summarize, Mulliner and Gardberg failed to exercise due diligence through: 

 Mulliner’s decision that service on Dr. Belsky was not a priority; 

 Mulliner waiting until late May to begin searching for an address for Dr. 

Belsky; 
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 Mulliner first attempting service on Dr. Belsky only six (6) days before the 

120-day deadline of June 12, 2017; 

 Mulliner only making two (2) attempts at service prior to the 120-day deadline; 

 Mulliner only making four (4) attempts total at service on Dr. Belsky (two 

before the 120-day deadline, and two after); 

 Mulliner’s failure to allow Ms. Weiss to accept service, since she was 

authorized to accept service for Dr. Belsky; 

 Mulliner’s failure to follow up with Dr. Belsky’s attorney after being provided 

with information from Ms. Weiss; 

 Mulliner attempting to file the Ex Parte Motion on the final day of the 120-day 

deadline; 

 Mulliner’s failure to notice for almost three (3) months that he had not received 

a confirmation for the Ex Parte Motion; 

 Mulliner being too busy to notice for almost three (3) months that no order had 

issued on the Ex Parte Motion, check with his staff, or follow up in any manner 

regarding service on Dr. Belsky;  

 Gardberg failing to notice for six (6) weeks that Dr. Belsky had not been 

served; and  

 Gardberg failing to notice for six (6) weeks that the Ex Parte  Motion had not 

been filed. 

Not only did the Receivers fail to exercise due diligence, Dr. Belsky did not evade 

service.  She was either on vacation, not at home, or seeing patients.  None of these demonstrate 

evasiveness, as FPSC would have the Court believe.  Accordingly, as demonstrated herein, no 

good cause existed for failing to file the Ex Parte Motion or for timely serving Dr. Belsky and 

dismissal is warranted.  See Guido v. Catholic Charities of S. Nevada , 128 Nev. 900, 381 P.3d 

617 (2012) (affirming the district court granting a motion to dismiss, because “[e]ven assuming 

that appellant demonstrated good cause for his failure to timely serve respondents with the 
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summons and complaint, he did not establish good cause for his failure to file a timely motion 

for an extension of time to serve process, and thus, he was not entitled to such an extension”).  

Thus, all claims by FPSC against Dr. Belsky must be dismissed pursuant to NRCP 

12(b)(4) for insufficiency of service of process because FPSC never served Dr. Belsky with a 

Summons or the Complaint as required by NRCP 4. 

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Dr. Marjorie Belsky respectfully requests that this Court deny 

FPSC’s Motion to Extend Time to Serve Certain Defendants as it pertains to her, and grant her 

Counter-Motion to Dismiss all FPSC’s claims against her. 

DATED this 25th day of October, 2017 
 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 
 
 
 
By /s/ Susan Schwartz  

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 7781 
bkunimoto@hollandhart.com 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
Susan M. Schwartz, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 14270 
smschwartz@hollandhart.com 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Phone: (702) 222-2542 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
 
Attorneys For Defendants Matthew Ng MD, 
Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, and Marjorie Belsky MD 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 25th day of October, 2017, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing MARJORIE BELSKY MD’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO EXTEND TIME 

AND COUNTER-MOTION TO DISMISS was served by the following method(s): 
 

 Electronic:  by submitting electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth 
Judicial District Court’s e-filing system and served on counsel electronically in 
accordance with the E-service list to the following email addresses: 

 
Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

Mulliner Law Group CHTD 

101 Convention Center Drive Ste 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

tmulliner@mullinerlaw.com  

Todd E. Kennedy 

Black and Lobello PLLC 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Ste 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelsis, Esq. 

Cook & Kelesis, LTD 
517 S. 9th Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

mcook@bkltd.com 

 

 

Robert E. Schumacher, Esq. 

GORDON & REES SCHULLY 
MANSUKHANILLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Ste 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

 

 
 U.S. Mail:  by depositing same in the United States mail, first class postage fully 

prepaid to the persons and addresses listed below: 
 
  
 

 Email:  by electronically delivering a copy via email to the following e-mail address: 
 
   
 

 Facsimile:  by faxing a copy to the following numbers referenced below: 
  
 

 
       

/s/ Marie Twist______________________________ 
An Employee of Holland & Hart LLP 
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OPPS 

Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 

BLACK & LOBELLO  

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 

Attorneys for Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., in his capacity as Receiver for, 
and acting on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ., in his capacity 
as Receiver for, and acting on behalf of, 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC a Nevada limited liability company;  
 
                               Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
William Smith MD, Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, 
Marjorie Belsky MD, Sheldon Freedman MD, 
Mathew Ng MD, Daniel Burkhead MD, 
Manager MD, DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 
                               Defendants. 

Case No.: A-17-750926-B 

Dept. No.: XV 

 

PLAINTIFF’S OMNIBUS 

SUPPLEMENTAL OPPOSITION TO 

DEFENDANTS’ VARIOUS MOTIONS TO 

DISMISS AND ASSOCIATED JOINDERS  

 

Date: November 29, 2017 

Time: 9:00 AM 

I. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY & SUMMARY 

Plaintiff Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., in his capacity as Receiver for, and acting on behalf of, 

Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“Plaintiff” or “Flamingo”), through Todd E. Kennedy of 

the law firm of Black & LoBello, hereby submits this Omnibus Supplemental Opposition 

(“Omnibus Opp.”)1 to:   

                                                 
1 In order to avoid redundant/repetitive filings, Plaintiff first respectfully requests that this 

Court take judicial notice of its own docket and the papers and pleadings on file thereon.  
To that end, this Omnibus Opp. relies on and incorporates by reference as if set forth 

herein Plaintiff’s: (i) Opposition to Dr. Matthew Ng and Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar’s Motion to 
Dismiss (“Ng Opp.”) and the Declaration of Todd E. Kennedy (“Kennedy Decl.”) (and all four 
of the Exhibits thereto) filed with the Ng Opposition on Thursday, July 13, 2017; (ii) Opposition 
to Defendant Daniel Burkhead M.D’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint filed on July 14, 2017 
(“Burkhead Opp.”); and (iii) Opposition to Defendant Sheldon J. Freedman’s Motion to Dismiss 
pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and 12(b)(6) and for Attorneys [sic] Fees Pursuant to NRS 18.020 
filed on July 17, 2017 ("Freedman Opp."). 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
11/7/2017 11:59 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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(i) Defendants Dr. Matthew Ng and Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar’s Motion to Dismiss Second 
Amended Complaint [the “SAC”], filed on October 23, 2017 (the “Ng MTD”);2  

 

(ii) Defendant Sheldon J. Freedman’s Supplement to Motion to Dismiss Complaint and 

[SAC] Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and 12(b)(6) and for Attorneys [sic] Fees Pursuant to 
NRS 18.020, filed on October 24, 2017 (the “Freedman MTD”);3 and  

 

(iii) Defendant Danial Burkhead M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss [SAC], filed on October 25, 2017 

(the “Burkhead MTD”);4 ((i), (ii), and (iii), along with associated joinders filed by the 

various defendants, collectively, the “Supplemental MTDs”) 

                                                 

2 The Ng MTD filed on October 24th regurgitates:  

(i) the economic loss doctrine argument (defeated in, among other oppositions, the Ng Opp., 
pp. 10-14, Section IV(A)); indeed, every original MTD and every single Defendant fails 
by ignoring the doctrine’s numerous exceptions – which are triggered in this action); 

(ii) the unsupported assertion that Plaintiff’s negligence claims do not apply to 
“Employees” (this is a strawman argument defeated in the Ng Opp., pp. 14-16, Section 
IV(B); Plaintiff’s SAC alleges each Defendant to be a “Manager”, “Director”, and/or 
“Officer,” and such reasonable allegations must be taken as true); and 

(iii) the wholly unsupported argument that Plaintiff has failed to plead intentional 
misconduct specific to Drs. Ng and Bhatnagar (Ng MTD, p. 4, ll. 5-8; defeated in the 
Ng Opp., pp. 12-13, Section IV(A)(2), and addressed herein, infra, at Section II).  The 
SAC contains dozens of separate factual allegations of intentional and/or willful 
misconduct by Defendants. 

The Ng MTD has an erroneous assertion that Plaintiff lacks standing to bring a claim under NRS 
Chapter 86, which is defeated in this Omnibus Opp., infra, at Section IV, for ignoring the plain 
language of the Receivership Order, NRS Chapter 86, and the Operating Agreement.     

3 The Freedman MTD filed on October 24th regurgitates: 

(i) the NRS Chapter 86 Standing arguments (defeated in the July Freedman Opp., pp. 12-
13, Section IV(A), p. 17, Section IV(D), and in this Omnibus Opp., infra, at Section IV, 
for ignoring the plain language of the Receivership Order, NRS Chapter 86, and the 
Operating Agreement); 

(ii) the Operating Agreement and indemnification arguments (defeated in the Freedman 
Opp., pp. 13-15, Section IV(B), as Defendants fail to recognize the express carve-out of 
the Operating Agreement that allows for direct individual liability of Defendants, and 
imposes duties of good faith and care and loyalty upon Defendants);  

(iii) the statute of limitations argument (defeated in the Freedman Opp., pp. 15-17, Section 
IV(C), and here, infra, at Section V, as Plaintiff was dominated by the very defendants 
who would never bring claims against themselves, thus there was no way the entity could 
realistically bring an action prior to an independent receiver taking over);  

(iv) the economic loss doctrine (see Footnote 2(i), supra); and 
(v) the motion for attorney’s fees (defeated in the Freedman Opp., pp. 22-23, Section IV(F), 

as the facts alleged in the SAC provide an overwhelming basis for the litigation of this 
action; for example, Defendants let millions in receivables belonging to Plaintiff go to 
waste, usurped hundreds of thousands in awards for their own personal benefit which 
should have accrued to Flamingo).  
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This Court’s consideration of Defendants’ three separate original motions to dismiss at the 

September 26, 2017 hearing, and the resultant order, allowed Plaintiff the option to file the SAC 

by October 10th (which Plaintiff did), and Defendants to file the Supplemental MTDs.  

However, the Supplemental MTDs regurgitate the same failed arguments from the original 

motions to dismiss and posit new assertions which are invalid on their face – and thus should be 

denied in their entirety.   

 

II. DEFENDANTS’ ASSERTION THAT PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO PLEAD INTENTIONAL 

MISCONDUCT IGNORES MASSIVE CHUNKS OF THE SAC; THERE’S ALSO A CLEAR 

DISPARITY BETWEEN THE SAC’S EVIDENCE AND DEFENDANTS’ UNSUPPORTED 

RHETORIC OF COUNSEL  

The Ng Motion argues that Plaintiff has failed to plead intentional misconduct specific to 

Drs. Ng and Bhatnagar (Ng MTD, p. 4, ll. 5-8).  This argument cannot survive even a cursory 

glance at the SAC, which has over forty separate allegations of intentional acts and/or willful 

misconduct against Defendants, which include Drs. Ng and Bhatnagar.  Just one paragraph of the 

SAC, paragraph 45, reflects many separate, intentional actions of Defendants:  

 
Individually and collectively, Defendants, with . . . willful misconduct, and 

reckless/intentional disregard, and in breach of their respective fiduciary duties 

to Flamingo:  

a. hired an embezzler, Barnes, into an unsupervised position with the power 

to destroy Flamingo and shut down all of Flamingo’s business at three locations;   

                                                                                                                                                             

4 The Burkhead MTD filed on October 25th regurgitates the same failed arguments as the 
original motion to dismiss:  

(i) the statute of limitations argument (see Footnote 3(iii), supra);  
(ii) the economic loss doctrine (see Footnote 2(i), supra);  
(iii) the same “employee/employer liability” argument defeated in the Ng Opp., pp. 14-16, 

Section IV(B)(see Footnote 2(ii), supra); and  
(iv) the claim that Flamingo lacks standing because of its revoked charter – which manages 

to misread the relevant statute and flatly contradict Nevada law (as detailed in the 
Burkhead Opp., pp. 11-12, Section 4(B)).   

The Burkhead MTD has an erroneous assertion that Defendant Burkhead is not liable for actions 
after his resignation – but it’s unsupported by evidence and void of the most basic details (as 
discussed in this Omnibus Opp., infra, at Section II). 
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b. chose not to put a system in place to monitor said embezzler, enabling him 

to engage in criminal conduct with complete impunity for “at least three to five 

years”;  

c. failed to monitor and supervise that embezzler, who left obvious and 
brazen warning signs (including, for example, middle-of-the-night withdrawals of 

$25,000 and $30,000 from Flamingo’s corporate card to feed a gambling problem, 

forging documents, and tying Flamingo to “economically unfeasible 

agreements”); and  

d. failed to terminate, seek recourse from, or pursue that embezzler or 

complicit banking institutions, even after learning he stole millions from 

Flamingo while Defendants – who owed duties to Flamingo – did nothing. 

(Emphasis added).  

Contrary to Defendants’ assertions, the SAC is brimming with allegations of intentional and 

willful misconduct, and under the standards for judging motions to amend, each such allegation 

must be construed in the non-moving party’s favor.  Here, the SAC handily defeats Defendants’ 

unsupported assertions, and it is a recurring theme.  The Supplemental MTDs are often supported 

by nothing more than bald representations of counsel, whereas the SAC is built paragraph by 

paragraph with testimony given under oath, and documents and evidence this Court can and does 

take judicial notice of.  For example, the Burkhead MTD has an erroneous assertion that 

Defendant Burkhead is not liable for actions after his resignation – but it’s unsupported by 

evidence and void of the most basic details – such as a date for Dr. Burkhead’s resignation.  

From both the law and the evidence, the Supplemental MTDs fail – and should be denied.   

 

III. DEFENDANTS’ READING OF GARDNER V. HENDERSON WATER PARK, LTD. LIAB. CO., 399 

P. 3D 350 (NEV. 2017) IGNORES DEFENDANTS’ SEPARATE INDIVIDUAL DUTIES TO 

PLAINTIFF, WHICH MAKE IT INAPPLICABLE TO THIS ACTION  

Defendant Freedman cites the Gardner case to argue that Defendants cannot be sued by 

Plaintiff here.  Defendant Freedman misreads this seminal case and is wrong.  The Nevada 

Supreme Court held in Gardner that no member can be libel for a negligence-based tort of an 

LLC simply for being a member - absent either personal negligent conduct outside the scope of 

their capacity in the LLC or unless they owed some personal duty to the injured party.  In 

Gardner, no such duty was found.  Here, Defendants have multiple separate and personal duties 

to the injured party – Flamingo – by virtue of Defendants’ fiduciary duties and the Operating 
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Agreement.  Gardner is inapplicable to the facts of the SAC, and this prong of Defendants’ 

MTDs fails.   

 

IV. DEFENDANTS’ NOTION THAT NRS CHAPTER 86 DEPRIVES THE RECEIVER OF STANDING 

TO BRING THIS ACTION IGNORES THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE COURT’S 

RECEIVERSHIP ORDER AND OF NRS CHAPTER 86, ESPECIALLY WHERE, AS HERE, ITS 

LANGUAGE ALLOWING FOR INDIVIDUAL LIABILITY IS TRIGGERED BY AN OPERATING 

AGREEMENT  

 

A. Defendants Ignore the Plain Language of the Receivership Order – Which Defeats 
Defendants’ Standing Argument Itself 

Defendants’ assertion that the Receiver lacks the standing to bring this action is directly 

contradicted by the plain language of the Order Granting Patriot-Reading Associates LLC’s 

Petition for the Appointment of Receiver (the “Receivership Order”), which held that the 

Receiver shall:  
 

(1) Take immediate possession of the Receivership Property (including, without 

limitation, any accounts held in Flamingo’s name), to hold and manage the 

Receivership Property to preserve it from loss, removal, material injury, 

destruction, substantial waste, and loss of income;  

(2) Determine, subject to the terms of this Order, which if any of Flamingo’s 

accounts payable should be paid, in full or in part, so that there might be an 

orderly liquidation of the Receivership Property and payment of claims of and 

debts against Flamingo, including the Judgment;  

(3) Pursue Flamingo’s claims and causes of actions against third parties, 
including but not limited to Flamingo’s directors and officers; and  

(4) Pursue Flamingo’s claims against personal property seized as part of criminal 

forfeiture proceedings against Flamingo’s former employee/office manager 

Robert W. Barnes. For the avoidance of doubt, the Receiver shall not be obligated 

to bring any such claims or actions as contemplated by this Section A and/or the 

other Sections of this Order, and the Receiver in his discretion may determine the 

extent to which, if at all, any such claims or actions may be beneficial to the 

effectuation of the terms of this Order.  Section A of the Receivership Order, pp. 

2-3 of 14, ll. 20-26:2-11 (Emphasis added). 

Sub-section (3) is end of the inquiry – the Court granted the Receiver explicit authority to sue, 

among others, Flamingo’s directors and officers. And it is far too late for Defendants to now take 

issue with the appointment of the Receiver, the scope of the Receiver’s authorization, and/or the 
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Receivership Order itself.5  Flamingo – under the control of Defendants – failed to appear despite 

service of process, failed to oppose Patriot’s default proceedings or application for the 

appointment of a receiver, failed to move for reconsideration of Patriot’s receivership 

appointment, and failed to appeal the Receivership Order.  See generally SAC, at ¶¶ 5-7.  The 

Receiver has unchallenged and unquestioned authority pursuant to an order of the Court, and 

Defendants’ standing argument fails in the face of that Order’s plain language and explicit grant 

of standing to the Receiver.   

 
B. Defendants’ Lack of Standing and ‘Improper Derivative Action’ Arguments Also 

Contradict the Explicit Language of NRS Chapter 86, which is triggered by the terms 

of the Operating Agreement Here and Allows for Defendants to be Sued  

NRS Chapter 86 contemplates actions by an LLC against members and, given the 

Operating Agreement here, Defendants can clearly be sued by the Flamingo the limited liability 

company:  

 

NRS 86.371  Liability of member or manager for debts or liabilities of 

company.  Unless otherwise provided in the articles of organization or an 
agreement signed by the member or manager to be charged, no member or 

manager of any limited-liability company formed under the laws of this State is 

individually liable for the debts or liabilities of the company. (Emphasis added).   

 

NRS 86.381  Member of company is not proper party in proceeding by or 

against company; exception.  A member of a limited-liability company is not a 

proper party to proceedings by or against the company, except where the object is 
                                                 

5 On April 28, 2016: In a breach of contract action brought by Patriot-Reading Associates 
LLC (“Patriot”)(case no. A-16-733627, Patriot-Reading Associates LLC v. Flamingo-Pecos 
Surgery Center LLC), default is entered against Flamingo which – under the control of 
Defendants (SAC, at ¶¶ 5-7) – fails to appear and defend the action; Defendants do nothing to 
protect Flamingo’s interests, despite their obligations as directors, officers and members of 
Flamingo; 

On May 20, 2016: A default judgment was entered against Flamingo and in favor of 
Patriot, in the amount $706,631.17 (the “Judgment”)(SAC, at ¶ 8); Defendants do nothing, and 
Flamingo failed to appear at all in the breach of contract action despite service of process and 
multiple notices; and  

During an August 10, 2016 Hearing and regarding an order entered on September 13, 
2016: The Court granted Patriot’s Petition for the Appointment of Receiver following a hearing, 
and issued an Order Granting Patriot-Reading Associates LLC’s Petition for the Appointment of 
Receiver (the “Receivership Order”), which was entered on or about September 13, 2016.  
Timothy R. Mulliner was appointed as the initial receiver; Flamingo and Defendants – who 
control Flamingo – do nothing. 
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to enforce the member’s right against or liability to the company. (Emphasis 

added). 

Additionally, while not applicable here, NRS 86.391 contemplates the direct liability of a 

member to the company under specific circumstances.  These provisions show that, at a 

minimum, Defendants’ notions of Chapter 84 and member liability are flawed and incomplete. 

Taken in conjunction with the Operating Agreement and triggered by the plain terms of that 

Agreement, Chapter 86 operates to completely defeat Defendants’ standing argument: Section 

7.1 imposes a duty of good faith obligation, and a duty of care and a duty of loyalty, upon certain 

Defendants, and Section 7.8 allows for Defendants to be personally sued under the gross 

negligence and willful misconduct exceptions.   

For example, Section 7.1 states, in part: “Each member of the Board shall devote such 

time to the affairs of the Company as is reasonably necessary for performance by such 

member of the Board of his or her duties, provided such member of the Board shall not be 

required to devote full time to such affairs.”  (Emphasis added).   Here, Defendants devoted no 

time – over several years – as Barnes bled Plaintiff dry.  

These sections of the Operating Agreement trigger the carve-out of NRS 86.371 and 

allow Flamingo, the limited liability company, to sue Defendants, its own members, officers, 

directors, and managers.  Defendants’ assertions that Plaintiff is bringing an improper derivative 

action (Freedman MTD, p. 10, Section F(1)) are even more flawed – Plaintiff is the company 

itself, to which Defendants have duties and obligations as directors, officers, and members – 

Plaintiff is not a shareholder or another member of the company.    

 
V. DEFENDANTS’ STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ARGUMENT IGNORES THE ELEPHANT IN THE 

ROOM – THE FLAMINGO ENTITY WAS NOT INDEPENDENT AND WAS NOT CAPABLE   

The statute of limitations argument is even more futile and nonsensical. Defendants argue 

that now:  

<> after hiring the looter as an office manager and giving him carte blanche over 

Plaintiff’s finances;  

<> after allowing Plaintiff to be looted for several years to the tune of millions of 

dollars;  
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<> after failing to supervise or manage the looter in any capacity;  

<> after ignoring disastrous warning signs (including but not limited to the looter 

office manager taking tens of thousands in withdrawals from the corporate card at 

night, from within Vegas casinos); 

<> after doing nothing for years to stop Plaintiff from being looted;  

<> after doing nothing to protect Plaintiff’s rights after the looting was discovered; 

<> after failing to terminate the looter immediately after discovery of his 

embezzlement of millions from Plaintiff;   

<> after allowing the looter to linger in his same position with Plaintiff for at least 

several months or to a new calendar year, and remain in control of Plaintiff’s 

finances after discovery;   

<> after failing to restrict the looter in any way after discovering his embezzlement;   

<> after failing to set up IT protections and preserve the files of the looter’s actions;  

<> after failing to conduct an audit or investigation into the looter’s crimes; 

<> after allowing the looter to abscond with all the files and the computer system 

associated with his crimes;  

<> after failing to hire the necessary professionals to address and mitigate the 

looter’s crimes; 

<> after dithering about for several months after the looter absconded before even 

approaching the FBI;  

<> after failing to file even a civil action against the looter on behalf of the entity;  

<> after allowing years to pass with little or no vigilance in the interests of the 

company;  

<> after dropping Plaintiff into a bankruptcy that was ultimately dismissed; 

<> after abandoning Plaintiff and leaving only an insolvent shell, to the obvious 

detriment of Plaintiff and its creditors; 

<> after intentionally and/or incompetently failing to protect Plaintiff’s interests in 

the looter’s criminal forfeiture and restitution matter (by failing to file any claims 

on Plaintiff’s behalf); and, indeed,  

<> after intentionally usurping Plaintiff’s interests by allowing personal awards to 

defendants directly to be issued in the criminal case’s Amended Judgment; 

allowing the awards to stand and not informing the Federal Government or the 

U.S. District Court; and not appealing the Amended Judgement and Restitution 

List therein (all of which occurred in 2017);  

it is too late for Plaintiff to sue the responsible managers, directors, and/or officers responsible 

for these very same acts and failures to act because they were in command of Plaintiff while 

the statute was running.  This position is preposterous and antithetical to Nevada law on 

excusable delay and equitable tolling – and common sense.  Plaintiff was dominated by the very 
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defendants who would never bring claims against themselves, thus there was no way the entity 

could realistically bring an action prior to an independent receiver taking over – and Defendants 

should be responsible for the delay, with their actions constituting the basis for equitable tolling.    

See, e.g., State of NV Dept. of Taxation v. Masco Builder Cabinet Group, 265 P.3d 666, 669-670 

(2011)(“Given that the Tax Department actively participated in and contributed to Masco’s delay 

in filing its formal refund claim, the interests of justice require the statute of limitations to be 

tolled.”).  Here, Defendants were solely responsible for and actively participated in Plaintiff’s 

delay in filing this action, and the interests of justice and common sense require that the statute 

of limitations arguments be rejected.  

 

VI. INDEED, DEFENDANTS FAIL TO ACKNOWLEDGE OR UNDERSTAND THE VERY BASIS OF 

THIS ACTION – DEFENDANTS’ CONDUCT, NOT BARNES’ CONDUCT  

Defendants’ Supplemental MTDs continue to focus on criminal office manager Robert 

Barnes’ actions (e.g., “[Plaintiff] seeks to shift liability to the Defendants for the intentional 

wrongful conduct of [Barnes]”),6 when, as clearly set forth in the SAC, the basis of this litigation 

is Defendants’ own and separate culpability and intentional actions.  There is no need to shift 

liability because Defendants themselves are liable to the Plaintiff here, the entity for which 

Defendants served as directors, officers, and managers.  Indeed, the SAC clearly alleges (and its 

allegations at this stage must be taken as true)7 that this case is driven by what Defendants did 

and Defendants’ own independent failures and intentional acts, not those of Barnes:  

 
The injury to Flamingo and the damages sought arise from Defendants’ own 

misconduct and breaches—Defendants’ own failures in hiring and supervising 

Barnes, Defendants’ own failures to audit, review, or even check Flamingo’s 

finances and accounts, Defendants’ own failures to pursue or recover embezzled 

amounts, Defendants’ own failures to pursue, preserve and collect Flamingo’s 

receivables, and Defendants’ own failures to assert Flamingo’s interests and right 

                                                 
6 The Ng MTD, at p. 3, ll. 8-10.  See also e.g.   

7 When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court “must construe 

the pleadings liberally and accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true,” drawing every 

fair inference in favor of the non-moving party.  Blackjack Bonding v. Las Vegas Mun. Ct., 116 

Nev. 1213, 1217 (2000), citing Simpson v. Mars Inc., 113 Nev. 188, 190 (1997). 
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to restitution when Barnes’ criminal matter was adjudicated.  SAC, at ¶ 40 

(emphasis added).   

To point to just a few of several egregious examples of Defendants’ independent liability to 

Plaintiff:  

Well after Barnes was gone from Flamingo, it was Defendants, not Barnes, who failed 

to pursue or preserve millions in receivables – for work Flamingo had already completed and 

was entitled to – and it was Defendants, not Barnes, who failed to stop their utter waste. SAC, at 

¶ 60(b).   

Well after Barnes was gone from Flamingo, it was Defendants, not Barnes, who ignored 

and grossly failed to protect Flamingo’s interests with respect to the Restitution List, and 

intentionally usurped those interests in favor of their own, by allowing the substitution of their 

own personal self-interest over Flamingo’s. SAC, at ¶ 57(b).  

And, after Barnes’ criminality was discovered, it was Defendants who individually and 

collectively failed to, among other things: (a) demand that Barnes return Flamingo’s funds and 

assets; (b) pursue Barnes; and (c) file a civil complaint against Barnes, with such failures 

resulting in substantial damages against Flamingo.  SAC, at ¶ 121.  

Taken as a whole, the evidence in the SAC is overwhelming, and shows that Defendants 

are proper parties to this action – not Barnes or anyone else; accordingly, the SAC must survive 

Defendants’ multiple flawed attempts at dismissal.  

VII. CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons and bases detailed above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that 

Defendants’ Supplemental MTDs be denied in their entirety.   

Respectfully Submitted, 

 /s/ Todd E. Kennedy 

By: _____________________________ 

Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 

BLACK & LOBELLO  
 

Attorneys for Mark J. Gardberg, Esq., in his 
capacity as Receiver for, 
and acting on behalf of, Flamingo-Pecos Surgery 
Center LLC 

AA000793



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S OMNIBUS SUPPLEMENTAL OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ VARIOUS 

MOTIONS TO DISMISS AND ASSOCIATED JOINDERS  

11 of 12 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of BLACK & LOBELLO, and that on this 

7th day of November, 2017 I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

OMNIBUS SUPPLEMENTAL OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENTS TO 

MOTIONS TO DISMISS  in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-

referenced document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of 

Electronic Filing automatically generated by the Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the 

Court’s Master Service List. 

For Mathew Ng: 

 Erica Smit (ecsmit@hollandhart.com) 

Robert Cassity (bcassity@hollandhart.com) 

Valerie Larsen (vllarsen@hollandhart.com) 

Marie Twist (matwist@hollandhart.com) 

Bryce Kunimoto (bkunimoto@hollandhart.com) 

For Pankaj Bhatnagar: 

Marie Twist (matwist@hollandhart.com) 

Bryce Kunimoto (bkunimoto@hollandhart.com) 

For Sheldon Freedman: 

Shirlee Lopan (slopan@bckltd.com) 

For Daniel Burkhead: 

Dylan Houston (dhouston@gordonrees.com) 

Andrea Montero (amontero@gordonrees.com) 

Marie Ozella (mogella@gordonrees.com) 

Robert Schumacher (rschumacher@gordonrees.com) 

Other Service Contacts not associated with a party on the case: 

Chris Mathews (cxm@ilawlv.com) 
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Heather Caliguire (hmc@ilawlv.com) 

Iqbal Law PLLC (info@ilawlv.com) 

Julia Diaz (jmd@ilawlv.com) 

Marah Hinskey (mjh@ilawlv.com) 

Mohamed Iqbal Jr. (mai@ilawlv.com)  

 

 

/s/ Todd E. Kennedy    
An employee of BLACK & LOBELLO 
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RIS 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 
Attorney for Defendant, 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
     

  
CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

DEFENDANT DANIEL 

BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY IN 

SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 

COMPLAINT  

 

 

  

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ., in his capacity as 

Receiver for, and acting on behalf of,  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
      

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD, M.D.’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
  

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. (“Dr. Burkhead”), by and through his 

attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP, hereby submits this Reply in Support of his Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Second Amended Complaint (“Reply”). 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
11/21/2017 11:49 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Reply is brought pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5) and is based 

upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and any exhibits attached thereto, the 

pleadings and papers on file herein and any oral argument that may be presented at the time of 

hearing on this matter. 

Dated:  November 21, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant, 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 On October 10, 2017, Plaintiff filed its Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) alleging 

multiple causes of action allegedly arising from Defendant’s tenure as a member of Plaintiff.  

Notably, Plaintiff’s negligence based claims must be dismissed since the applicable statute of 

limitations expired prior to the filing of Plaintiff’s complaint.  Plaintiff argues that equitable 

tolling should apply to save its claims.  However, the doctrine of equitable tolling is inapplicable 

to Plaintiff’s action.  Finally, the economic loss doctrine bars Plaintiff’s claims.  Accordingly, 

Defendant BURKHEAD’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint should be 

granted. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. This Court Should Dismiss the Claims Against Dr. Burkhead   

 
1. The Statute of Limitations is Not Subject to Equitable Tolling 

 Plaintiff alleges three negligence based causes of action in its Second Amended 

Complaint relating to Robert Barnes’ employment as office manager of Plaintiff:  (1) negligent 

hiring; (2) negligent supervision; and (3) negligent retention.  SAC, ¶ 66.  The statute of 

limitations for negligence is two years.  NRS 11.190(e).  Plaintiff filed its original Complaint on 

February 10, 2017.  Plaintiff alleges Barnes’ was hired on October 5, 2006.  SAC, ¶ 66.  Plaintiff 

alleges Barnes’ embezzlement was discovered in 2012, but he was not fired until 2013.  SAC, ¶ 

112.   

 According to Plaintiff’s own allegations, the statute of limitation for the negligent 

retention and supervision claims began running in 2012--or at the latest in 2013.  The Complaint 

was not filed until February 10, 2017, years after the statute of limitations for those claims 

expired.  Dr. Burkhead requests that all Plaintiff’s negligence based causes of action be 

dismissed since the applicable statute of limitations expired before Plaintiff’s action was 

initiated. 

 Plaintiff argues the two year statute of limitations enumerated in NRS 11.190(e) should 

be equitably tolled in an effort to save its claims from dismissal.  Plaintiff’s reliance on equitable 
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tolling is misguided.  Plaintiff cites State of NV Dept. of Taxation v. Masco Builder Cabinet 

Group, 265 P.3d 666, 669-670 (2011) to support the argument that equitable tolling should be 

applied by the Court thereby circumventing the two year statute of limitations in NRS 11.190(e).  

The Masco Court relied heavily on Copeland v. Desert Inn Hotel, 99 Nev. 823, 826 673 P.2d 

490, 492 (1983), for the proposition that a statute of limitations may be equitably tolled in 

situations where procedural technicalities would bar claims.  Masco Builder Cabinet Group, 265 

P.3d at 671.  Plaintiff misconstrues the ruling in Copeland.   

 The Copeland ruling applied to “Nevada anti discrimination statutes [which] have 

laudable goals and will be construed broadly… [the court decided to] adopt the doctrine of 

equitable tolling in this context; procedural technicalities that would bar claims of discrimination 

will be looked upon with disfavor.”  Copeland v. Desert Inn Hotel, 99 Nev. 823, 826 673 P.2d 

490, 492 (1983). (emphasis added).  Clearly, this was a limited holding that applied to 

discrimination cases, which is not at issue in this matter.  Further, Masco and Copeland are both 

cases where the claims at issue were first pending before an administrative agency.  Those 

Courts adopted equitable tolling due to the fact that a procedural technicality would bar the 

claims at issue.  Here, a procedural technicality does not bar the claims, rather, Plaintiff’s failure 

to file this action within the limitations period is the sole reason that the applicable statute of 

limitations period expired. 

 Copeland established certain factors to be considered when determining whether the 

doctrine of equitable tolling should apply:  

the diligence of the claimant; the claimant’s knowledge of the relevant facts; the 

claimant’s reliance on authoritative statements by the administrative agency that misled 

the claimant about the nature of the claimant’s rights; any deception or false assurances 

on the part of the employer against who the claim is made; the prejudice to the employer 

that would actually result from delay during the time that the limitations period is tolled; 

and any other equitable considerations appropriate in the particular case. 

Id.   

 Consideration of these factors herein weighs against tolling the four year statute of 

limitations.  Plaintiff was not diligent in prosecuting these claims and failed to file them within 

the limitations period.  Moreover, unlike Copeland, Plaintiff’s claims were never pending before 
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an administrative agency and therefor Plaintiff could not have been misled in any way regarding 

the applicable statute of limitations.  Plaintiff was well aware of the relevant facts since Barnes’ 

left the company.  A careful reading of the remaining factors shows they were intended to apply 

only to actions that were at some point required to be filed with an administrative agency and are 

thus inapplicable in the instant case.   

 Therefore, Defendant requests that all causes of action based on theories of negligence be 

dismissed.  The doctrine of equitable tolling is inapplicable and these claims are barred by NRS 

11.190(e).  Applying equitable tolling outside of the context of cases that were required to be 

pursued initially before an administrative agency would lead to absurd results and defeat the 

underlying public policy behind statutes of limitation. 

2. The Torts of Negligent Hiring/Retention/Supervision Implicate Employer Liability 

 Plaintiff improperly alleges causes of action for negligent hiring, supervision, and 

retention against Dr. Burkhead and all of the other Defendants who were members of Plaintiff.  

Plaintiff, not Dr. Burkhead or the other Defendants, employed Barnes as Plaintiff’s office 

manager.  SAC, ¶ 66.  Only an employer, which was Plaintiff itself, can be liable for negligent 

hiring, supervision and retention.  Since Dr. Burkhead was not Barnes’ employer, he cannot be 

held liable under Plaintiffs’ causes of action.  See Wright v. Watkins and Shepard Trucking, Inc., 

968 F.Supp.2d 1092, 1095 (2013) (stating the tort of negligent hiring “creates employer 

liability”) (emphasis added).  Plaintiff did not and cannot allege that Dr. Burkhead acted as 

Barnes’ employer.  See SAC.  Plaintiffs’ claims against Dr. Burkhead must be dismissed.   

 Additionally, negligent hiring is based on the failure of an employer to conduct a 

reasonable background check or hiring an employee the employer knew, or should have known, 

had dangerous propensities that could result in harm to others.  See Hall v. SSF, Inc., 112 Nev. 

1384, 1392, 930 P.2d 94, 98 (1996).  There are no factual allegations in the Second Amended 

Complaint that Dr. Burkhead or the other Defendants failed to conduct a reasonable background 

check or knew before he was hired that Barnes was a risk to embezzle money from Plaintiff.  See 

e.g., SAC, ¶¶ 66-70.  Plaintiff’s sole allegation is a bald conclusory allegation that Defendants 

failed to conduct necessary due diligence.  See SAC ¶ 70.  Because this is a conclusory statement 
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with no actual facts, the Court does not need to treat it as true and may disregard it when 

deciding this Motion.  Plaintiff did not and cannot plead the necessary elements of a negligent 

hiring claim.  Plaintiff’s negligent hiring claim fails as a matter of law and must be dismissed.  

3. The Economic Loss Doctrine Bars Plaintiff’s Negligence Claims Since No Exception 

Applies 

 As a preliminary note, Plaintiff does not oppose Defendant’s economic loss doctrine 

arguments in its Omnibus Opposition.  For this reason, Defendant’s Motion should be granted.  

See EDCR 2.2(e).  The Omnibus Opposition states that the economic loss doctrine is 

inapplicable in a footnote due to certain exceptions without any further elaboration.  See 

Omnibus Opposition, footnote 2(i).  This footnote mentions a previous opposition filed by 

Plaintiff, but fails to incorporate that previous oppositions arguments by reference.  If this Court 

chooses to allow these unincorporated arguments, then they are defeated on the substantive 

grounds discussed below. 

 Even assuming that Plaintiff could meet the elements for its negligence claims against Dr. 

Burkhead and that those claims are not barred by the applicable statute of limitations, the 

economic loss doctrine would be applicable.  Well established Nevada law hold that the 

economic loss doctrine precludes a plaintiff from recovering under theories of negligence for 

purely economic loss.  Local Joint Executive Board v. Stern, 98 Nev. 409, 651 P.2d 637, 638 

(1983) (“The primary purpose of the rule is to shield a defendant from unlimited liability for all 

of the economic consequences of a negligence act, particularly in a commercial or professional 

setting….”); Terracon Consultants Western Inc. v. Mandalay Resort Group, 125 Nev. 66, 73, 

206 P.3d 81, 86 (Nev. 2009) (responding to certified question from the United States District 

Court for the District of Nevada on whether economic loss doctrine bars negligence claims 

where loss is solely economic); Calloway v. City of Reno, 116 Nev. 250, 256, 993 P.2d 1259, 

1263 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Olson v. Richard, 89 P.3d 31, 31-33 (Nev. 2004) 

(holding district court properly applied the economic loss doctrine to preclude negligence claims 

where only damages were economic).  Purely economic loss occurs when there is no damage or 

injury to a person or property, and only monetary losses are sustained.  Id. 
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 As part of its causes of action for negligent hiring, retention, and supervision, Plaintiff 

seeks only recovery of economic losses allegedly sustained by Plaintiff as a result of Barnes’ 

embezzlement.  Plaintiff failed to allege any injury to a person or property that occurred as a 

result of the alleged negligence.  This is precisely the type of claim that is barred under the 

economic loss doctrine.  Plaintiff cannot recover for purely economic loss under a theory of 

negligence.  In order to sustain a cause of action for negligence, Plaintiff must allege injury to 

person or property.  Plaintiff’s SAC completely omits any such allegations.  For these reasons, 

Plaintiff’s negligence based causes of action must be dismissed. 

 Defendant surmises that Plaintiff attempts to incorporate by reference arguments made in 

its Opposition to NG and Banghatar Motion to Dismiss filed July 14, 2017 (“NG Opposition”) in 

the Omnibus Opposition.  Omnibus Opposition, footnote 2(i).  Plaintiff claims that many 

exceptions to the economic loss doctrine are applicable, but clearly no such exception applies.  

See NG Opposition. 

 First, Plaintiff claims that there are “exceptions to the ELD in certain categories of 

negligence cases ‘against attorneys, accountants, real estate professionals, and insurance 

brokers’” and “even third parties may be successful with negligent supervision and management 

claims against directors and officers in cases involving purely economic loss.”  NG Opposition, 

p.10:26-11:2.  The former proposition is clearly inapplicable since Defendant is a doctor and was 

not acting in any of those capacities at any time during the events in question.  The latter 

proposition is supported only by foreign authority that is not binding on this Court and 

essentially has no bearing on this case at all.  A careful reading of Sergeants shows that the 

economic loss doctrine is not even considered in that case and thus it should not be read to create 

any so-called “exception” to it.  See Sergeants Benevolent Ass’s Annuity Fund v. Renck, 796 

N.Y.S.2d 77 (N.Y. App. Div. 2005). 

 The next exception to the economic loss doctrine that Plaintiff claims is applicable is 

where “a duty is imposed by law rather than contract.”  NG Opposition p.11:24-25.  This 

exception is also clearly inapplicable since Plaintiff claims that Defendant breached his fiduciary 

duty to Plaintiff, but this duty arises in contract not in law.  NRS 86 does not prescribe any 
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fiduciary duty to members of a limited liability company by operation of law.  See NRS 86.  The 

fiduciary duty of Defendant to Plaintiff arises via the Operating Agreement that its members 

were signatories under.  This fiduciary relationship does not exist by operation of law, thus this 

exception to the economic loss doctrine is inapplicable. 

 Plaintiff also claims that an exception to the economic loss doctrine exists for intentional 

torts, which allows the recovery of purely economic losses.  While this is an accurate statement 

of law, this exception is inapplicable since Plaintiff does not allege any intentional torts against 

Defendant.  See SAC.  Plaintiff states that Defendant engaged in intentional conduct, but an 

allegation of intentional conduct does not make negligence an intentional tort.  It is self-evident 

that intentional torts are limited torts such as assault, battery, false imprisonment, intentional 

infliction of emotional distress, trespass to land, trespass to chattels, and conversion where the 

intent of the defendant must be shown.  None of these are intentional torts are alleged in the SAC 

and negligence clearly is not an intentional tort.  Thus, this exception to the economic loss 

doctrine is not applicable to this matter. 

 Since no exception to referenced by Plaintiff is actually applicable to the instant case, the 

economic loss doctrine acts as a complete bar to Plaintiff’s claims.  As such, all negligence based 

causes of action should be dismissed. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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III. CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, Dr. Burkhead respectfully requests that this Court dismiss all 

claims against him.  Alternatively, this Court should stay this action for a reasonable time to 

allow Plaintiff an opportunity to reinstate its charter with the Nevada Secretary of State.  If 

Plaintiff fails to do so within a reasonable period of time then this action should be dismissed. 
  

Dated:  November 21, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant, 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 21
st
 day of November, 2017, I did cause a true correct 

copy of DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s 

electronic filing service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise): 

 

Timothy E. Kennedy, Esq. 

BLACK & LOBELLO 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/35246185v.1 
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ANSC 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South 4
th

 Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

Attorney for Defendant, 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

  CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

 

ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED 

COMPLAINT 

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ., in his capacity as 
Receiver for, and acting on behalf of,  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

M.D., an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., (“DEFENDANT”) by and through his 

attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP,  hereby answers the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) filed by 

Plaintiff FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER LLC (“Plaintiff”) as follows: 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
12/6/2017 5:08 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

A. The Appointment of the Receiver by the Court in Case No. A-16-733627 

1. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 1 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

2. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 2 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

3. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 3 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

4. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 4 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

5. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 5 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

6. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 6 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

7. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 7 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

8. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 8 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

9. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 9 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

10. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 10 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

11. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 11 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

12. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 12 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

13. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 13 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein.  

14. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 14 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

15. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 15 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

16. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 16 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

17. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 17 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

18. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 18 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

B. The Proceedings in the Instant Action 

19. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 19 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

20. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 20 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

21. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 21 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

22. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 22 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

23. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 23 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

THE PARTIES 

24. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 24 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

25. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 25 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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26. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 26 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

27. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 27 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

28. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 28 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

29. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 29 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

30. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 30 of the SAC, admits that he is an 

individual who resides and/or does business in Clark County, Nevada but denies that at all 

relevant times he was a manager, director and/or officer of Plaintiff and owed certain duties to 

Plaintiff.   

31. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 31 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

32. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 32 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

33. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 33 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

34. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 34 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

35. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 35 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

36. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 36 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

37. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 37 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

38. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 38 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

39. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 39 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

40. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 40 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

41. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 41 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

42. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 42 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

43. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 43 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

44. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 44 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

45. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 45 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

46. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 46 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

47. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 47 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

48. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 48 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

49. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 49 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

50. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 50 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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51. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 51 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

52. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 52 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

53. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 53 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

54. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 54 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

55. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 55 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

56. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 56 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

57. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 57 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

58. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 58 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

59. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 59 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

60. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 60 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

61. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 61 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

62. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 62 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

63. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 63 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

64. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 64 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

65. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 65 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: BARNES’ HIRING AND 

THE UNSUPERVISED YEARS OF CRIME – DESPITE OBVIOUS WARNING SIGNS 

 

66. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 66 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

67. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 67 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

68. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 68 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

69. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 69 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

70. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 70 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

71. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 71 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

72. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 72 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

73. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 73 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

74. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 74 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

75. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 75 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

76. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 76 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

77. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 77 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

78. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 78 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

79. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 79 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

80. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 80 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

81. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 81 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

82. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 82 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

83. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 83 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

84. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 84 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

85. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 85 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

86. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 86 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

87. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 87 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

88. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 88 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

89. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 89 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

90. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 90 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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91. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 91 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

92. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 92 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

93. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 93 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

94. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 94 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

95. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 95 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

96. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 96 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

97. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 97 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

98. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 98 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

99. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 99 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

100. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 100 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

101. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 101 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

102. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 102 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

103. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 103 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

104. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 104 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

105. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 105 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

106. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 106 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

107. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 107 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

108. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 108 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

109. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 109 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

110. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 110 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: BARNES’ NON-

TERMINATION AND LINGERING RETENTION – AND DEFENDANTS’ 

INACTIVITY AND INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT – FOLLOWING DISCOVERY OF 

BARNES’ CRIMINALITY 

 

111. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 111 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

112. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 112 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

113. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 113 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

114. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 114 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

115. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph115 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

116. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 116 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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117. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 117 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

118. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 118 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

119. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 119 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

120. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 120 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

121. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 121 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

122. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 122 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

123. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 123 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

124. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 124 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

125. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 125 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

126. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 126 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

127. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 127 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

128. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 128 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

129. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 129 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

130. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 130 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

131. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 131 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

132. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 132 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

133. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 133 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

134. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 134 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

135. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 135 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

136. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 136 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

137. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 137 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: DEFENDANTS’ GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE, INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT AND BREACHES OF FIDUCIARY 

DUTY IN FAILING TO PURSUE MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN RECEIVEABLES 

OWED TO FLAMINGO- RESULTING IN COMPLETE WASTE 

 

138. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 138 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

139. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 139 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

140. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 140 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

141. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 141 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

142. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 142 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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143. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 143 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

144. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 144 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

145. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 145 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

146. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 146 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

147. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 147 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

148. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 148 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

149. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 149 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

150. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 150 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

151. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 151 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

152. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 152 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

153. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 153 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

154. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 154 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

155. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 155 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: DEFENDANTS’ 

INTENTIONAL FAILURE TO PROTECT FLAMINGO’S INTERESTS AND 

DEFENDANTS’ PERSONAL ENRICHMENT THROUGH BREACHES OF THEIR 

FIDUCIARY DUTIES  

 

156. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 156 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

157. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 157 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

158. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 158 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

159. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 159 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

160. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 160 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

161. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 161 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

162. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 162 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

163. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 163 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Grossly Negligent Hiring against All Defendants) 

 

164. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 164 though 170 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Negligent Supervision against all Defendants) 

165. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 171 through 174 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

 

 

AA000847



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-15- 

G
o

rd
o

n
 R

ee
s 

S
cu

ll
y

 M
a

n
su

k
h

a
n

i,
 L

L
P

 

3
0

0
 S

o
u

th
 4

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

u
it

e 
1
5

5
0

 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
1

0
1

 
 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Grossly Negligent Retention against all Defendants) 
   

166. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 175 through 178 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breach of Fiduciary Duty of Care to Plaintiff) 

 

167. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 179 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 166 above. 

168. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 180 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

169. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 181 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

170. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 182 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

171. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 183 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

172. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 184 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breaches of Defendants’ fiduciary Duty of Loyalty to Plaintiff) 

 

173. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 185 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 172 above. 

174. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 186 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

175. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 187 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

176. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 188 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

AA000848



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-16- 

G
o

rd
o

n
 R

ee
s 

S
cu

ll
y

 M
a

n
su

k
h

a
n

i,
 L

L
P

 

3
0

0
 S

o
u

th
 4

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

u
it

e 
1
5

5
0

 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
1

0
1

 
 

177. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 189 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breach of the Operating Agreement) 

 

178. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 190 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 177 above. 

179. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 191 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

180. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 192 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

181. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 193 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

182. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 194 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

183. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 195 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Waste - Against All Defendants) 

 

184. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 196 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 183 above. 

185. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 197 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

186. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 198 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

187. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 199 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

188. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 200 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breaches of NRS Chapter 86) 

 

189. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 201 through 209 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 DEFENDANT denies the allegations of Plaintiff’s SAC, and each cause of action, and 

each paragraph in each cause of action, and each and every part thereof, including a denial that 

Plaintiff was damaged in the sum or sums alleged, or to be alleged, or any other sums 

whatsoever. 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Plaintiff’s SAC fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT denies that by reason of any act or omission, fault, conduct or liability on 

the part of DEFENDANT, whether negligent, careless, unlawful or whether as alleged, or 

otherwise, Plaintiff was injured or damaged in any of the amounts alleged, or in any other 

manner or amount whatsoever; DEFENDANT further denies that answering it was negligent, 

careless, reckless, wanton, acted unlawfully or is liable, whether in the manner alleged or 

otherwise. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the Plaintiff’s SAC, 

and each and every cause of action stated therein, fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a 

cause of action, or any cause of action, as against DEFENDANT.  

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, it is not legally responsible 

for the acts and/or omissions of those other Defendants named by Plaintiff as fictitious 

Defendants. 
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FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that if Plaintiff suffered or 

sustained any loss, injury, damage or detriment, the same is directly and proximately caused and 

contributed to, in whole or in part, by the breach of warranty, conduct, acts, omissions, 

activities, carelessness, recklessness, negligence, and/or intentional misconduct of Plaintiff, 

thereby completely or partially barring its recovery herein. 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT deny the allegations of Plaintiff’s SAC, and each cause of action, and 

each paragraph in each cause of action, and each and every part thereof, including a denial that 

Plaintiff was damaged in the sum or sums alleged, or to be alleged, or any other sums 

whatsoever. 

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

If DEFENDANT is found responsible in damages to Plaintiff or some other party, 

whether as alleged or otherwise, then DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon 

alleges, that the liability will be predicated upon the active conduct of Plaintiff, whether by 

negligence, breach of warranty, strict liability in tort or otherwise, which unlawful conduct 

proximately caused the alleged incident and that Plaintiff’s action against DEFENDANT is 

barred by that active and affirmative conduct. 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at no time prior to the 

filing of this action did Plaintiff, or any agent, representative or employee thereof, notify 

DEFENDANT of any breach of any contract or duty to Plaintiff; therefore, Plaintiff is barred 

from any right of recovery from DEFENDANT. 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff’s SAC, and 

each and every cause of action contained therein is barred by the applicable Statutes of Repose.   
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TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that as to each alleged 

cause of action, Plaintiff has failed, refused and neglected to take reasonable steps to mitigate its 

alleged damages, if any, thus barring or diminishing Plaintiff’s recovery herein. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff’s SAC, and 

each and every cause of action contained therein, is barred by the applicable Statutes of 

Limitation. 

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff unreasonably 

delayed both the filing of the SAC and notification DEFENDANTS of the causes of action 

alleged against him, all of which has unduly and severely prejudiced him in defense of the 

action, thereby barring or diminishing Plaintiff’s recovery herein under the Doctrine of Waiver, 

Estoppel, and/or Laches.  

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff lacks standing 

to bring the instant claim against DEFENDANT. 

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the claims of Plaintiff 

are reduced, modified and/or barred by the Doctrine of Unclean Hands. 

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff has failed to 

join all necessary and indispensable parties to this lawsuit. 

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the injuries and 

damages of which Plaintiff complains were proximately caused by, or contributed to by, the acts 

of other third-party defendants, cross-defendants, persons, and/or other entities, and that said 
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acts were an intervening and superseding cause of the injuries and damages, if any, of which 

Plaintiff complains, thus barring Plaintiff from any recovery against DEFENDANT. 

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff is barred 

from the recovery it seeks by the legal doctrines of Res Judicata and Issue Preclusion having 

already sought recovery for the damages alleged herein in prior litigation. 

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

It has been necessary for DEFENDANT to retain the services of an attorney to defend 

this action, and DEFENDANT is entitled to a reasonable sum as and for attorney’s fees.   

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT hereby incorporate by reference those affirmative defenses enumerated in 

Rule 8 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure as if fully set forth herein.  In the event further 

investigation or discovery reveals the applicability of any such defenses, DEFENDANT reserve 

the right to seek leave of court to amend their Answer to specifically assert any such defense.  

Such defenses are herein incorporated by reference for the specific purpose of not waiving any 

such defense. 

TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 11, as amended, all possible affirmative defenses may not have 

been alleged herein insofar as sufficient facts were not available for DEFENDANT after 

reasonable inquiry, and therefore, DEFENDANT reserve the right to amend its Answer to 

alleged additional affirmative defenses, if subsequent investigation so warrants. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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 WHEREFORE, DEFENDANT prays for judgment against Plaintiff as follows: 

1. That Plaintiff take nothing by way of this action; 

2. For the prejudgment interest or costs incurred herein; 

3. For cost of suit and attorney’s fees and costs; and  

4. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated:  December 6
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By:

 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South 4
th

 Street, Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 6
th

 day of December, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy 

of ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s electronic 

filing service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise) 

Timothy E. Kennedy, Esq. 

BLACK & LOBELLO 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/35829470v.1 
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ERR 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 
Attorney for Defendant, 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
     

  
CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

ERRATA TO ANSWER TO 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 

  

MARK J. GARDBERG, ESQ., in his capacity as 

Receiver for, and acting on behalf of,  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
     

ERRATA TO ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
  

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. (“Dr. Burkhead”), by and through his 

attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP, hereby submits this Errata to his Answer to Second Amended Complaint. 

(“Answer”) filed on December 5, 2017.  

 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
12/8/2017 11:24 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 Following the submission of the Answer, it was brought to my attention that we did not 

provide our answer to the Ninth Cause of Action allegations.  Dr. Burkhead hereby files this 

Errata to resubmit a full and copy complete of the Corrected Answer to Second Amended 

Complaint attached hereto as Exhibit “1”. 

Dated:  December 8, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant, 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 8
th 

day of December, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy 

of ERRATA TO ANSWER SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT to be served via the 

Court’s electronic filing service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise): 

 

Timothy E. Kennedy, Esq. 

BLACK & LOBELLO 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/35952016v.1 
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ANSC 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

GORDON REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South 4
th

 Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

Attorney for Defendant, 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

  CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

 

ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED 

COMPLAINT 

MARK J. GARBERG, ESQ., in his capacity as 

Receiver for, and acting on behalf of,  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

M.D., an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., (“DEFENDANT”) by and through his 

attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP,  hereby answers the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) filed by 

Plaintiff FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER LLC (“Plaintiff”) as follows: 

AA000872
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

A. The Appointment of the Receiver by the Court in Case No. A-16-733627 

1. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 1 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

2. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 2 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

3. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 3 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

4. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 4 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

5. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 5 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

6. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 6 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

7. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 7 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

8. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 8 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

9. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 9 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

10. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 10 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

11. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 11 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

12. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 12 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

13. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 13 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein.  

14. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 14 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

15. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 15 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

16. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 16 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

17. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 17 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

18. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraphs 18 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

B. The Proceedings in the Instant Action 

19. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 19 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

20. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 20 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

21. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 21 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

22. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 22 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

23. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 23 of the SAC, admits the allegations 

contained therein. 

THE PARTIES 

24. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 24 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

25. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 25 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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26. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 26 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

27. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 27 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

28. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 28 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

29. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 29 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

30. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 30 of the SAC, admits that he is an 

individual who resides and/or does business in Clark County, Nevada but denies that at all 

relevant times he was a manager, director and/or officer of Plaintiff and owed certain duties to 

Plaintiff.   

31. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 31 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

32. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 32 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

33. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 33 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

34. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 34 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

35. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 35 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

36. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 36 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

37. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 37 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

38. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 38 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

39. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 39 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

40. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 40 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

41. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 41 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

42. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 42 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

43. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 43 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

44. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 44 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

45. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 45 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

46. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 46 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

47. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 47 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

48. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 48 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

49. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 49 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

50. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 50 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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51. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 51 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

52. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 52 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

53. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 53 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

54. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 54 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

55. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 55 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

56. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 56 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

57. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 57 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

58. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 58 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

59. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 59 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

60. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 60 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

61. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 61 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

62. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 62 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

63. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 63 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

64. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 64 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

65. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 65 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: BARNES’ HIRING AND 

THE UNSUPERVISED YEARS OF CRIME – DESPITE OBVIOUS WARNING SIGNS 

 

66. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 66 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

67. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 67 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

68. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 68 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

69. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 69 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

70. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 70 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

71. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 71 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

72. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 72 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

73. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 73 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

74. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 74 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

75. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 75 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

76. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 76 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

77. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 77 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

78. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 78 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

79. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 79 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

80. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 80 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

81. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 81 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

82. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 82 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

83. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 83 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

84. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 84 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

85. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 85 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

86. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 86 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

87. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 87 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

88. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 88 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

89. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 89 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

90. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 90 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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91. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 91 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

92. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 92 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

93. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 93 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

94. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 94 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

95. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 95 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

96. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 96 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

97. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 97 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

98. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 98 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

99. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 99 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

100. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 100 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

101. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 101 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

102. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 102 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

103. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 103 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

104. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 104 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

105. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 105 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

106. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 106 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

107. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 107 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

108. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 108 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

109. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 109 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

110. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 110 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: BARNES’ NON-

TERMINATION AND LINGERING RETENTION – AND DEFENDANTS’ 

INACTIVITY AND INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT – FOLLOWING DISCOVERY OF 

BARNES’ CRIMINALITY 

 

111. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 111 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

112. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 112 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

113. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 113 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

114. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 114 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

115. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph115 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

116. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 116 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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117. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 117 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

118. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 118 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

119. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 119 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

120. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 120 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

121. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 121 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

122. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 122 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

123. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 123 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

124. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 124 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

125. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 125 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

126. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 126 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

127. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 127 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

128. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 128 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

129. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 129 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

130. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 130 of the SAC, denies the allegations 
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contained therein. 

131. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 131 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

132. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 132 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

133. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 133 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

134. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 134 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

135. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 135 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

136. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 136 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

137. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 137 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: DEFENDANTS’ GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE, INTENTIONAL MISCONDUCT AND BREACHES OF FIDUCIARY 

DUTY IN FAILING TO PURSUE MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN RECEIVEABLES 

OWED TO FLAMINGO- RESULTING IN COMPLETE WASTE 

 

138. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 138 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

139. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 139 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

140. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 140 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

141. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 141 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

142. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 142 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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143. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 143 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

144. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 144 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

145. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 145 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

146. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 146 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

147. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 147 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

148. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 148 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

149. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 149 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

150. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 150 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

151. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 151 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

152. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 152 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

153. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 153 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

154. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 154 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

155. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 155 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION: DEFENDANTS’ 

INTENTIONAL FAILURE TO PROTECT FLAMINGO’S INTERESTS AND 

DEFENDANTS’ PERSONAL ENRICHMENT THROUGH BREACHES OF THEIR 

FIDUCIARY DUTIES  

 

156. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 156 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

157. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 157 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

158. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 158 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

159. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 159 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

160. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 160 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

161. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 161 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

162. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 162 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

163. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 163 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Grossly Negligent Hiring against All Defendants) 

 

164. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 164 though 170 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Negligent Supervision against all Defendants) 

165. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 171 through 174 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Grossly Negligent Retention against all Defendants) 
   

166. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 175 through 178 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breach of Fiduciary Duty of Care to Plaintiff) 

 

167. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 179 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 166 above. 

168. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 180 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

169. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 181 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

170. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 182 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

171. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 183 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

172. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 184 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breaches of Defendants’ fiduciary Duty of Loyalty to Plaintiff) 

 

173. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 185 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 172 above. 

174. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 186 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

175. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 187 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

176. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 188 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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177. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 189 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breach of the Operating Agreement) 

 

178. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 190 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 177 above. 

179. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 191 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

180. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 192 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

181. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 193 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

182. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 194 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

183. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 195 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Waste - Against All Defendants) 

 

184. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 196 of the SAC, incorporates by reference 

his responses in Paragraphs 1 through 183 above. 

185. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 197 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

186. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 198 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

187. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 199 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

188. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 200 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 
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EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Defendants’ Breaches of NRS Chapter 86) 

 

189. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 201 through 204 of the SAC, states that no 

response is required since this cause of action was dismissed by the Court. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Imposition of a Constructive Trust Against All Defendants) 

 

190. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 205 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

191. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 206 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

192. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 207 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

193. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 208 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

194. DEFENDANT, answering Paragraph 209 of the SAC, denies the allegations 

contained therein. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 DEFENDANT denies the allegations of Plaintiff’s SAC, and each cause of action, and 

each paragraph in each cause of action, and each and every part thereof, including a denial that 

Plaintiff was damaged in the sum or sums alleged, or to be alleged, or any other sums 

whatsoever. 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Plaintiff’s SAC fails to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT denies that by reason of any act or omission, fault, conduct or liability on 

the part of DEFENDANT, whether negligent, careless, unlawful or whether as alleged, or 

otherwise, Plaintiff was injured or damaged in any of the amounts alleged, or in any other 
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manner or amount whatsoever; DEFENDANT further denies that answering it was negligent, 

careless, reckless, wanton, acted unlawfully or is liable, whether in the manner alleged or 

otherwise. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the Plaintiff’s SAC, 

and each and every cause of action stated therein, fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a 

cause of action, or any cause of action, as against DEFENDANT.  

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, it is not legally responsible 

for the acts and/or omissions of those other Defendants named by Plaintiff as fictitious 

Defendants. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that if Plaintiff suffered or 

sustained any loss, injury, damage or detriment, the same is directly and proximately caused and 

contributed to, in whole or in part, by the breach of warranty, conduct, acts, omissions, 

activities, carelessness, recklessness, negligence, and/or intentional misconduct of Plaintiff, 

thereby completely or partially barring its recovery herein. 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT deny the allegations of Plaintiff’s SAC, and each cause of action, and 

each paragraph in each cause of action, and each and every part thereof, including a denial that 

Plaintiff was damaged in the sum or sums alleged, or to be alleged, or any other sums 

whatsoever. 

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

If DEFENDANT is found responsible in damages to Plaintiff or some other party, 

whether as alleged or otherwise, then DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon 

alleges, that the liability will be predicated upon the active conduct of Plaintiff, whether by 

negligence, breach of warranty, strict liability in tort or otherwise, which unlawful conduct 
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proximately caused the alleged incident and that Plaintiff’s action against DEFENDANT is 

barred by that active and affirmative conduct. 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that at no time prior to the 

filing of this action did Plaintiff, or any agent, representative or employee thereof, notify 

DEFENDANT of any breach of any contract or duty to Plaintiff; therefore, Plaintiff is barred 

from any right of recovery from DEFENDANT. 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff’s SAC, and 

each and every cause of action contained therein is barred by the applicable Statutes of Repose.   

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that as to each alleged 

cause of action, Plaintiff has failed, refused and neglected to take reasonable steps to mitigate its 

alleged damages, if any, thus barring or diminishing Plaintiff’s recovery herein. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff’s SAC, and 

each and every cause of action contained therein, is barred by the applicable Statutes of 

Limitation. 

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff unreasonably 

delayed both the filing of the SAC and notification DEFENDANTS of the causes of action 

alleged against him, all of which has unduly and severely prejudiced him in defense of the 

action, thereby barring or diminishing Plaintiff’s recovery herein under the Doctrine of Waiver, 

Estoppel, and/or Laches.  

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff lacks standing 

to bring the instant claim against DEFENDANT. 
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FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the claims of Plaintiff 

are reduced, modified and/or barred by the Doctrine of Unclean Hands. 

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff has failed to 

join all necessary and indispensable parties to this lawsuit. 

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the injuries and 

damages of which Plaintiff complains were proximately caused by, or contributed to by, the acts 

of other third-party defendants, cross-defendants, persons, and/or other entities, and that said 

acts were an intervening and superseding cause of the injuries and damages, if any, of which 

Plaintiff complains, thus barring Plaintiff from any recovery against DEFENDANT. 

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

DEFENDANT is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that Plaintiff is barred 

from the recovery it seeks by the legal doctrines of Res Judicata and Issue Preclusion having 

already sought recovery for the damages alleged herein in prior litigation. 

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

It has been necessary for DEFENDANT to retain the services of an attorney to defend 

this action, and DEFENDANT is entitled to a reasonable sum as and for attorney’s fees.   

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 DEFENDANT hereby incorporate by reference those affirmative defenses enumerated in 

Rule 8 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure as if fully set forth herein.  In the event further 

investigation or discovery reveals the applicability of any such defenses, DEFENDANT reserve 

the right to seek leave of court to amend their Answer to specifically assert any such defense.  

Such defenses are herein incorporated by reference for the specific purpose of not waiving any 

such defense. 
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TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 11, as amended, all possible affirmative defenses may not have 

been alleged herein insofar as sufficient facts were not available for DEFENDANT after 

reasonable inquiry, and therefore, DEFENDANT reserve the right to amend its Answer to 

alleged additional affirmative defenses, if subsequent investigation so warrants. 

 WHEREFORE, DEFENDANT prays for judgment against Plaintiff as follows: 

1. That Plaintiff take nothing by way of this action; 

2. For the prejudgment interest or costs incurred herein; 

3. For cost of suit and attorney’s fees and costs; and  

4. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated:  December 8
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada State Bar No. 7504 

300 South 4
th

 Street, Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 

 

 

 

AA000892



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-22- 

G
o

rd
o

n
 R

ee
s 

S
cu

ll
y

 M
a

n
su

k
h

a
n

i,
 L

L
P

 

3
0

0
 S

o
u

th
 4

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

u
it

e 
1
5

5
0
 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
1

0
1

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 8
th

 day of December, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy 

of ANSWER TO SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s electronic 

filing service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise) 

Timothy E. Kennedy, Esq. 

BLACK & LOBELLO 

10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 
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